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At a glance

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

REGIONAL POPULATION

Established 1995
(formerly government owned)

30,000 approximately

GROSS VALUE OF
IRRIGATED AGRICULTURAL
PRODUCTION

Unlisted public company

HEAD OFFICE
Deniliquin

Over $357 million GVIAP*
(2014/15 ABS)

REGIONAL OFFICES

SUPPLY SYSTEM

Finley and Wakool

WATER ACCESS LICENCES
NSW Murray Regulated River
as at 30 June:

• 190,695 units general security – other
• 287,660 units conveyance
• 121,704 units supplementary water
• 117 units high security – irrigation
• 3,170 units high security – town

LANDHOLDINGS SUPPLIED
STAFF
Permanent Max-term
contracts

286 small outlets
1,275 unmetered pipes

FIVE-YEAR AVERAGE
WATER USE ON FARM
818GL

DRAINAGE SYSTEM
SUB-SURFACE
DRAINAGE CATCHMENT
25,000ha

105.4

5.2

5

17

On-farm
efficiency
program

0.7

0

115km pipes, 54 pumps, 2,100ha
evaporation basins

MILCast

14

7

ACCREDITED ESCAPES

PIIOP

AREA OF OPERATIONS
724,000ha

2017 ANNUAL REPORT

2,410 large outlets

1,421km gravity fed earthen channels

2,164

MURRAY IRRIGATION

SUPPLY POINTS
687 extra-large outlets

• 823,978 units general security –
non-government

Murray
Irrigation

2,868km gravity-fed earthen channels

SUB-SURFACE
DRAINAGE SYSTEM

Capacity 3,350ML/day (four escapes)
2017 delivery efficiency 88.1%
80.5% last year

* Gross Value of Irrigated Agricultural Production
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CUSTOMER PROFILE
(as at June 2017)
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Chairman’s
report

By the time this annual report is published
Murray Irrigation will be nearing the
completion of its transition to modern
outlets and remote control. The Board has
long recognised that with such a once-in-ageneration change, an ongoing challenge will
be to ensure that our customers can leverage
any benefits that lead to better margins.
Earlier this year we spoke to customers about their business needs. We sought to know
how they wanted to interact with us and how we might improve what we do. We took
that feedback on board and we’ve redesigned our customer service model accordingly.
The Board also wanted to tackle head-on the perception that the Company needed
to be more responsive and less bureaucratic and the CEO and his management
team have responded by empowering the frontline team to provide better information
and greater flexibility to work with customers to better manage their water needs.
Many customers would be aware that whenever we seek to improve customer
services we have a head start because so many of our people are married to or
come from customer families!
The Board has heard loud and clear that we need to get better at listening to our
customers. In the past year we changed the way we get operational feedback and
as a direct result these decisions were made:
•

A three percent resource distribution to all delivery entitlement holders on opening
of the irrigation season

•

Retention of the five percent compliant meter credit in 2017/18

•

A freeze on water delivery charges at 2016/17 prices

But this feedback process isn’t finished as the Board works with management in the
search for continual improvement.

THE FUTURE IS HERE
The year in review saw a focus on delivering the final phases of outlet modernisation
and the start of the in-channel infrastructure works. These are both massive and
vital projects to ensure that our infrastructure will eventually merge seamlessly with
the increasing use of technology that is now spreading across agriculture. Just when
we thought there’s no more to be found in the never-ending quest for productivity
gains, it’s likely that the answer lay in the continuing roll out of technology both on
and off the farm.
The company’s work not only generates economic benefits for its immediate
customers, but also for many of our region’s businesses and contractors.
Many customers say the improved control of water onto their farm and the increased
flexibility of our upgrades is giving them more options for their businesses.

MURRAY IRRIGATION
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Our main-channel upgrade suite of works was funded under Round
3 of the Commonwealth’s Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators
Program (PIIOP). Participating in this program will extend the life of
our key infrastructure, complement the outlet upgrades and unlock
the full potential of modernisation.
An important preparation for this element of the main channel
upgrades was the conduct of an in-depth study of soil types, current
infrastructure, cropping trends and potential and an analysis of
customer demands.

INCREASING COMPETITIVENESS
As we improve delivery and operational efficiencies and as
our customers embrace new opportunities, the region in which
we operate must be resilient to ensure it is competitive in an
increasingly tight water market.
For our part, the Board is determined to foster a culture that is
flexible and responds to our customers’ water delivery demands.
We also want to drive a strategic direction that will maximise
deliveries through the system and that includes working with
Government and environmental water holders in any way that
derives a sustainable income.

APPRECIATION
I must take this opportunity to thank former Independent Director,
Dr Sharman Stone, and former Chairman, Mark Robertson.
Dr Stone joined the Board in August 2016 and, while the duration of
her appointment not long, her contribution was substantial and she
played a key role in the resolution of the Company’s outstanding tax
credit. While Dr Stone’s increasing workload and commitments to
the Commonwealth Government precluded her ongoing relationship
with the Murray Irrigation Board her commitment to irrigated
agriculture remains and she continues to be a strong advocate.
Mark Robertson led the organisation through a challenging period
of change and remains a committed member of our Board.
These are exciting times for Murray Irrigation as our upgrade
program settles and we continue to improve our services and
relationships. With these changes comes the opportunity to tune
the business and action whatever opportunities arise to minimise
costs while improving services.
I thank the Executive Team and the dedicated staff at Murray
Irrigation. They are committed to providing quality services as they
introduce procedures and behaviours that reflect the feedback
of our customers.

“ THE FUTURE IS HERE – and now
is the time to take advantage of
the opportunities it presents.”

Murray Irrigation must operate in the legislative environment
that we are given. However, we have a responsibility to remain
vigilant and proactively seek opportunities to influence water
policy in the context of future reforms. Throughout the reporting
year we continued to maintain constructive relationships with key
Government agencies to emphasise our role as an authoritative
voice on commercial water and a sounding board in the
development of water reform policy. These relationships were
pivotal to:
•

Resolving an outstanding credit with the Australian Tax Office

•

Delivering 96GL of Commonwealth Environmental Water
to mitigate local blackwater events

•

Negotiating a flexible delivery method for PIIOP Round 3
to ensure water savings are achievable

I would like to thank the Deputy Chairman and Directors for their
support during a challenging year and the chairs of each of the
Board’s five sub-committees for the rigour they bring to their duties.
Finally, I thank all our customers, without whom, we have no
business and I wish them a productive and prosperous season.

Bruce Simpson
Chairman

WWW.MURRAYIRRIGATION.COM.AU
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Chief
Executive
Officer’s
report

As the Company enters the final stages of the
outlet optimisation program (PIIOP Round 2),
we are now starting to see the efficiencies that
are capable of being achieved through remote
control and better system operability of our
water delivery network.
Despite the extended wet start to the season, we delivered 824GL in 2016/17 which
was above our budgeted forecast. This included delivering 100GL on behalf of the
Commonwealth Environmental Water Holder to mitigate local blackwater events highlighting
the strategically important nature of our system to deliver local environmental benefits.
Taking the opportunity to work with other corporate or environmental entities is key
to attracting more water use within our footprint and additional sources of revenue,
which in turn reduces the burden on our shareholder customers.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The Company is now positioned to take advantage of a positive cashflow and build
its reserves for the future.
We delivered a much-improved earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) loss of
$2.416 million over the reporting year before impairment adjustments, as the
Company continued to focus on reducing costs and tightening financial management.
This is a welcome turnaround from when I joined the Company in 2015, at which time
we reported an EBIT loss of almost $10 million on the back of a good water delivery
year, followed by last year’s EBIT loss of $9.8 million before impairment adjustments
in a poor delivery season. A key factor in this turnaround is that we have maintained
the rate of cost reductions throughout the year in review. This shows that the cost
management processes introduced during 2015/16 and carried over into 2016/17 are
effective at keeping costs down across different water delivery scenarios.
The decision in 2015/16 to impair assets resulted in a reduction in the value of
depreciation and led to an improvement in our financial performance over the year.
Whilst we recorded a profit of $1.85 million earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation (EBITDA), accounting for depreciation in the amount of $7.01
million is still a key factor in our EBIT results.
The successful resolution of an outstanding tax liability saw a positive one-off ATO
payment of $6.368 million also contribute to below the line results as an abnormal
item. This liability - first identified by former Chairman Bill Hetherington in 2002 - had
been a long-standing issue for Murray Irrigation. Thanks to the efforts of many,
we received a favourable ruling to this complex issue in December 2016. Also, we
have successfully negotiated a one-off interest payment with the Commonwealth
Government to be applied against our PIIOP Round 2 contribution of $3.3 million.
These efforts have the effect of improving our balance sheet by just under $10 million
over the current financial year.
The MILCast business had a challenging year, with both a change in management
and a re-focus on safety, which resulted in a breakeven operating result over the
MURRAY IRRIGATION
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financial year. However, due to plant closure for three months,
a number of write-downs and one-off restructuring costs, the
business generated an overall loss for the current year.
The investment portfolio was reviewed by the Board and a new
mandate and operating policy were implemented to improve the
management of the funds and their performance.
Finally, the business is to be restructured into three separate
operating entities to improve financial performance, accountability
of the business and transparency of results. These three entities
are Water Delivery, Asset Management and Business Development.
It is quite clear from the Profit & Loss Statement and the Balance
Sheet, that the Water Delivery business is operating at breakeven
but the funds to be set aside for future asset replacement and
maintenance are not at the level required by the business.
Overall, an excellent financial result giving the company a strong
foundation to build for an exciting future.

SKILLS AND SERVICE
Our new customer service model has been designed to ensure we
can deliver the service our customers need, while maintaining costs.
As agriculture increases its demand for technology, our service
systems and operations are being upgraded to meet demand and
improve customer interactions. We have heard from customers the
need to improve our online platform and in the next six months will
be launching a new website with an improved customer portal.
We continue to up-skill our workforce to operate the remote-control
network while ensuring we keep enough “boots on the ground” to
monitor and maintain manual operations where required.
We are also focused on identifying opportunities to maximise water
use within our system and we recognise that the easier it is for our
customers to manage their accounts and have water delivered at an
affordable price, the more inclined they will be to use water on their farms.
It is also important to us to make it as easy as possible for
customers to transfer water from outside our system for use within
the system. While we are upgrading our Water Exchange, we
continue to discuss with regulators the need for better market
information and more streamlined trade processes.
As we rollout our whole-of-system modernisation program, we
will be transitioning more of our workforce and structure to take
advantage of the new technology and to improve our services.
And it doesn’t stop there, the Executive team has been tasked
with preparing the Company to operate beyond modernisation
and into the 2020s, when we will focus on operations, assets and
investment opportunities.

LISTENING LOCALLY
Our new model for consulting with customers on key issues was
welcomed by those who participated in the process. We held
discussions with small groups across our footprint and captured
feedback from 20 percent of our customer base. These discussion
groups comprised customers and shareholders from a range of
farming models and commodity types and captured a cross section
of valuable advice and opinions that led to the Board making
immediate decisions about timely issues including compliant meter
credits and how resource distributions would be made.
Further work resulting from this round of consultations included a
review of the Total Farm Water Use Rules and the Rice Growing Rules.

Our rules or guidelines must be fit-for-purpose to protect our
environment and the water tables without inhibiting efficient and
effective water use across all commodities. We will be working
with industry groups to update these rules and further consulting
our customers.

SAFETY
Murray Irrigation takes its responsibility for the safety of staff, contractors
and customers seriously. Over the last 12 months we have conducted
a wholesale review of our corporate safety practices and procedures
and we continue to reduce our Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR).
Two years ago, our LTIFR was over 20 which was a red flag that
our safety practices were not good enough.
By making safety a core value within the Company, encouraging risk
awareness and reporting and improving our procedures, our LTIFR
has been almost halved to 10.51 in 2016/17. While this is still too
high, it is a good start as we strive to reach a target of less than four.
In 2016/17 Murray Irrigation partnered with Ertech Pty Ltd who provided
specialist advice to develop a comprehensive health, safety and
environment system which has now been rolled out across our business.
We expect this ongoing project will lead to further reductions in our LTIFR.
Most important, however, is that by improving our safety processes,
we are making our workplace a safer place to be for all our staff,
contractors and customers.

MODERNISATION
The final roll-out of the PIIOP Round 2 project will be completed in
October 2017. This project will be completed on budget, on time
and within the scope defined by the Board. As we enter the brave
new world of opportunity for irrigation and our customers we’ll seek
to work together to maximise the benefits of this important project.
Farms are being progressively switched on with their new outlets
and linked into an aggregated control system. We now need to
work together to extract both on-farm efficiencies and in-channel
improvements. This will take the time, effort and patience of all
parties as we move into a new operating environment that will likely
lead to an improvement in our region’s overall productivity.
Thanks are extended to members of the Executive team who
have worked hard to achieve the improvements that have come
to fruition this year. Their dedication and commitment to ensuring
Murray Irrigation continues to provide quality services to our
customers is fundamental to the business.
Throughout this business we have a great customer-focused team
operating in a very dynamic and challenging environment. Many are
from farming families where they have been taught the fairness and
hard-working principles which help run our company. They stood
tall when the floods bore down on us last year and they’re ready
now for the challenge of our modernisation program.

Michael Renehan
Chief Executive Officer
WWW.MURRAYIRRIGATION.COM.AU
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•

Former Federal MP, The Honourable Dr Sharman Stone was appointed
as an independent Director to the Board.

•

The State Emergency Service issued flood warnings for the Murray
and Edward rivers.

•

The Bureau of Meteorology report that September 2016 was the wettest
September on record in the Murray-Darling Basin, with area-average rainfall
of 118.5mm, 249 percent above the long-term monthly mean and well above
the previous record set in 1906.

•

The Company announced an impairment of its assets, following a valuation
from an independent consultancy.

•

The Company sold 12,000ML to shareholders.

•

MILCast launched new website: www.milcast.com.au.

•

Director John Bradford was elected to the Board of the NSW Irrigators’ Council.

•

Director Tim McKindlay was re-elected Deputy Chair of the National
Irrigators’ Council.

•

Murray Irrigation’s PIIOP Round 3 funding deed signed on Friday 2 December 2016.

•

Resolved an outstanding taxation credit. The resolution saw the Company
credited $6.368 million by the Australian Tax Office for a tax debt incurred in
relation to Land and Water Management Plan funding.

•

Announced a water resource distribution of three percent allocation to be issued
against delivery entitlements.

•

The Company and the NSW Office of Environment and Heritage (OEH) signed
an agreement to continue their decade long collaboration in delivering water to
private wetlands, rivers and ephemeral creeks throughout the district.

•

A young male Australasian Bittern is discovered in a rice crop at Mayrung
property Willum Park. The bittern is tagged as part of the Bitterns in Rice Project
which is proudly supported by the Company.

•

The Company held 28 private feedback sessions across the district during
February and March.

•

The Company hosted an agricultural-theme trivia night (AgQ) to engage with the
next generation of farmers.

•

Water Minister Barnaby Joyce and local Member Sussan Ley confirmed that
irrigators in the Farrer electorate will receive close to $151million in funding under
Round Five of the On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program (OFIEP).

•

The Company launched a new sponsorship program designed to support healthy,
viable and vibrant regional communities.

•

Murray Irrigation delivered 806GL of water through its irrigation system in 2016/17
(including environmental deliveries).

•

Director Mark Robertson stepped down from his role as Murray Irrigation Chair.
Bruce Simpson was appointed as the new Chair, with Ben Barlow Deputy Chair.

•

The Company presented findings from its customer feedback group sessions
earlier in the year.

1.

Safety
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Safety
Strategic objective: Establish a safety culture and progress to zero harm
by reducing lost time injuries and improving internal systems.

AIMS

OUR CULTURE

Safety is a core business function at Murray Irrigation. We’re
committed to developing, implementing, maintaining and constantly
improving strategies and processes to ensure all activities take
place at the highest level of safety performance, while delivering our
services.

Murray Irrigation continues to develop and embed safety culture
in all activities, recognising the importance and value of effective
safety management.

A new safety management system has been developed and
implemented across the company. The aim is to provide a structured
management system to eliminate or control risk in operations
to an acceptable level and to ensure that the measurement of
organisational safety performance and safety targets are in place.
The safety management system clearly defines accountabilities and
responsibilities across the business to deliver our safety strategy
and continually improve safety performance. An extensive training
program was developed to upskill and inform employees, and this will
continue until the system is fully implemented and fit for purpose.

To support our managers and employees through the implementation
of the new safety system, two safety mentors worked across the
business to assist and guide our people with the roll out of the safety
management system and to provide all employees with adequate and
appropriate safety information relevant to their role.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Murray Irrigation supports employees to improve their overall physical,
mental and emotional wellbeing. We have introduced a new Fitness
for Work policy and procedure to ensure that the risk to the health and
safety of employees is not increased as a result of fatigue, psychological
stress, illness or the use of medication, illicit drugs or alcohol.
To support the health and wellbeing of employees, we offer an Employee
Assistance Program (EAP), arrange corporate gym membership
rates, flu vaccinations, hearing tests and skin cancer screening.

WHS INDICATORS

•
•
•

Month

Fatality

LTIs

RDIs

MTIs

FAIs

LTIFR

TRIFR

AIFR

Jul-16

0

0

1

1

1

6.93

20.79

41.59

Aug-16

0

1

0

0

0

9.39

21.92

40.71

Sep-16

0

0

0

2

0

8.70

26.11

43.52

Oct-16

0

0

0

0

0

8.17

24.52

38.14

Nov-16

0

1

0

0

0

9.96

24.91

34.88

Dec-16

0

2

0

0

0

13.50

27.00

36.00

Jan-17

0

0

0

0

0

10.57

23.25

29.60

Feb-17

0

1

0

0

0

10.57

23.25

27.48

Mar-17

0

0

0

0

2

10.56

21.12

29.57

Apr-17

0

0

0

0

0

10.65

21.30

29.82

May-17

0

0

0

0

1

10.65

19.16

29.81

Jun-17

0

0

0

1

0

10.51

21.03

29.44

LTIFR Target 4
TRIFR Target 10
AIFR Target 30

LTI = Lost Time Injury
RDI = Restricted Duties Incident
MTI = Medically Treated Incident
FAI = First Aid Incident
LTIFR = Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate
TRIFR = Total Recordable Injury
Frequency Rate
AIFR = All Injury Frequency Rate
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People
1. OUR PEOPLE
Strategic objective: Transition our people and culture to a lean, adaptable
safety and service orientated organisation.
Key performance indicator

Deliverables

2016/17 performance

2015/16 performance

Productivity through retention

Unplanned labour turnover

13%

11%

Productivity through attendance

Absenteeism

2%

2%

Safe work methods

Lost time injuries

5 injuries

3 injuries

PREPARING OUR PEOPLE FOR AUTOMATION

Leadership and professional development

Our workforce has been continually preparing for our transition
to automation; we determined the new water delivery structure,
finalised role requirements and identified the skill sets and industry
knowledge required to operate and maintain the new infrastructure.
Throughout this process, 14 roles were identified as surplus
to requirements. All employees affected have had extensive
consultation, redeployment opportunities and outplacement support.

Leadership and professional development was supported through
a number of avenues, including fee subsidies, study leave and
ongoing coaching and mentoring. Professional and leadership
development of employees was also achieved through acting
responsibilities and secondments across the business.

LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
Compliance and safety training
Our training and development budget for 2016/17 was largely
focused on compliance and safety training, this supported our newly
introduced safety management system and legislative requirements.
Training included: Working Near overhead Powerlines (WNP),
First Aid, SMARTTrain Chemical Handling, ICAM Safety
Investigation, Traffic Control, Rigger Awareness, Internal WHS
Policy/Procedure awareness.

Graduate and trainees
The Company has successfully onboarded two graduate engineers,
a business administration trainee and hosted a work experience
student from Deniliquin High School.

014.
LONG SERVICE

DIVERSITY IN THE WORKFORCE

During the year, a number of employees achieved
service milestones.

Murray Irrigation recognises the benefits of having a diverse and
skilled workforce. The company promotes a positive workplace
culture based on inclusive practices and behaviours.

45 years
Arthur West

The following graphs are a breakdown of employees across the
Company based on gender and average age as at 30 June 2017.

30 years
Raymond Reid
15 years
John Pearce
Stephen Malone
Matthew Maher
10 years
Jock Perrett
Danielle Walkington
Retirements
Lyn Cartwright 16 years
John White 10 years

GENDER DIVERSITY
Gender diversity

PIIOP
MILCast
Infrastructure
Customer Operations
Corporate
Commercial Services
CASE
0

10

20

30
Females

40
Males

50

60
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AGE DIVERSITY
Average Age Profiles by Department

60

50
CASE
40

Commercial Services
Corporate

30

Customer Operation
Infrastructure
MILCast

20

PIIOP
10

0

STAFF NUMBERS AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

Permanent

Max-term contracts

105.4

5.2

5

17

On-farm efficiency program

0.7

0

MILCast

14

7

Murray Irrigation
PIIOP

016.
2. OUR COMMUNITY

3. OUR INDUSTRY

HIGHLIGHTS

Murray Irrigation is committed to working with industry
representative groups to share knowledge, exchange information
and look for ways to increase regional investment and productivity.

Our sponsorship program supports healthy, viable and vibrant
communities in our area of operations.
The Company is a proud member of the Murray communities in
which we work. As one of the largest private employers in the
district, working across multiple sites and covering a large area, we
take our community responsibility seriously.
We’re committed to supporting communities through a range of
initiatives including sponsorship, in-kind donations and networking
and information sharing events.

SPONSORSHIP
In 2016/17, our Learn to Swim program provided support for 1,552
local school children to participate in water safety courses. The
program has been supported since 2003 and educates children
across our region in water safety while providing vital rescue and
survival techniques.
In April, Murray Irrigation announced a new sponsorship program
that provides financial support or in-kind services to human
resources, infrastructure and equipment or administrative initiatives.
Successful applicants for 2017/18 were:
• Western Murray Land Improvement Group to conduct cropping
trials,
• Channel 4 Change for youth mental health awareness initiatives
and training, and
• In-kind support to Deniliquin Motocross Club.
Sponsorship program applications open in March-April each year.

LOCAL INDUSTRY
Murray Irrigation works with local industry representative
organisations including the Ricegrowers’ Association of Australia
(RGA) and Murray Dairy to provide water information and provide
advice regarding our business for the benefit of their members. The
relationship with these organisations also enables Murray Irrigation
to better understand their members’ business needs.
Murray Irrigation now provides each of the five local landholder
associations in our area of operations with dedicated Customer
Account Officers. These locality-based associations represent
the irrigators in their districts and provide Murray Irrigation
with important insight into the diverse interests of our
irrigation community.

STATE AND NATIONAL
Murray Irrigation is a member of both the National and NSW
Irrigators’ councils. These bodies act to promote the interests
of irrigators from all commodity sectors to Government and
their agencies.
Murray Irrigation is an active participant in the policy development
processes for these organisations and their associated committees.
In turn, the councils provide industry-wide analysis and insight
into key issues including pricing determinations, Foreign Water
Ownership Register and multiple State and Federal reviews
and inquiries.

SHARING THE KNOWLEDGE

Both councils provide members with access to the highest
level of Government and key departmental stakeholders, which
complements Murray Irrigation’s existing relationships.

Murray Irrigation is proud to support local initiatives designed to
promote information sharing and networking among our community.
Through these initiatives we are seeking to inform, encourage and
empower people in the region.

Murray Irrigation Directors John Bradford (NSW) and Tim McKindlay
(National) have been elected to the respective boards of the
irrigator’s councils, with Tim holding the position of Deputy Chair
since 2013.

In the year under review we again supported the highly successful
Women in Water event hosted by the Riverina Collective. Held in
Deniliquin in November, the event attracted over 130 women and
heard four inspirational leaders in agriculture.
Murray Irrigation also hosted the inaugural AgQ – an agricultural
themed trivia night, supported by other local businesses. The
event aimed to engage younger people involved in agriculture while
providing information and an opportunity to network. More than 80
people attended the inaugural event.
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“Working on a $200 million-dollar project
straight out of university is a huge
opportunity. Since starting with Murray
Irrigation in January this year my skills
have dramatically improved and I’m
able to make valuable contributions
in meetings. PIIOP Round 2 has given
me experience in diverse aspects of
engineering, including design, planning,
and construction. Learning to reach a
common goal with different teams in
Murray Irrigation has also been invaluable
to my professional development.”
Adam Dare

PIIOP Graduate Engineer

3.

Operations
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Operations
1. WATER DELIVERY
Strategic objective: We will seek every additional water supply opportunity,
create strong commercial incentives for water demand, and maximise both
the volume of water available to our customers and the efficiency of every
megalitre we source and deliver.
Key performance indicator

Deliverables

2016/17 performance

2015/16 performance

End-of-season losses maintained or
improved to be below historic average

Loss target for 480GL on-farm deliveries
was 182GL

Actual losses 215GL

Actual losses 141GL

Non-accredited escape flows

Less than or equal to 4% of net diversions

2.6%

Actual flows less 0.05%

Customer orders delivered

100% of orders delivered on requested
delivery dates

95%

95%

Total delivery efficiency1

Equal to or greater than 80%

88.1%

80.5%

On-farm delivery efficiency2

Equal to or greater than 70%

77.1%

70.5%

Gross value and volume
of efficiency allocation

Maximise efficiency allocations while
preserving our obligations for supply

30GL: valued at $2.1m

63GL valued at $12.6m

YEAR HIGHLIGHT

DELIVERY EFFICIENCY

Successfully transitioning 50 percent of our manually operated
divisions to remote control or automated control.

Murray Irrigation delivered 66GL through accredited escapes to
assist river operations. 26,716ML was lost through non-credited
escapes while a further 300ML was credited to customers due to
account errors. System efficiencies enabled 30GL to be distributed
as efficiency allocations this season, along with a further 12GL sale
to customers.

DELIVERY SERVICE

(where less than four days’ notice was provided)

1
2

Includes accredited escape flows
Excludes accredited escape flows
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LEVELS OF SERVICE

5

9

HIGH

STANDARD
LEVEL

LEVEL

SERVICE AREAS IN OPERATION
Five High Level of Service (HLOS) and nine Standard Level of Service (SLOS) operational areas were in operation with the remainder
of customers supplied through Traditional Level of Service (TLOS), pending upgrade completion.
As outlet upgrades were completed, customers were provided an on-site induction to better understand the characteristics of their upgraded outlets.
There were zero supply interruptions during the season.

OPERATIONAL WATER DELIVERY (MDBA/WATERNSW)

Service standard

2016/17 actual

2015/16 actual

Water ordering

100%

100%

Orders in advance

97.84%

100%

Restrictions

0

0

Meter readings

3,388

3,671

Annual Operating Plan

July 2016/17

July 2015/16

Season length

283 days

290 days

Water exchange (days open)

336

338

COMPLIANCE
Murray Irrigation has a number of compliance obligations
associated with the Licences and Approvals issued under the Water
Management Act 2000 (NSW). The Combined Water Supply and
Water Use Approval requires Murray Irrigation to produce an Annual
Compliance Report which includes details regarding the volume of
water extracted and volume of water delivered to, and utilised by,
our customers.
Our Environment Protection Licence requires Murray Irrigation to
monitor and report the volume and quality of water discharged from
our drainage system.
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SERVICE DELIVERY PERFORMANCE STANDARD SUMMARY
OF OUTCOMES 2016/17

R ED

66GL
E
DELIV

ERED ON-FAR

VE

CY

98GL
DELI

LIV

ERY EFFICIEN

DE

DE

LIV

824GL

NM
ENT

88.1%

ER OP E

R

The Combined Water Supply and Water Use Approval requires
Murray Irrigation to monitor the depth to watertable within our area
of operations. Our Environment Policy addresses a requirement in
the approval to limit groundwater recharge and the discharge of salt.
The Environment Policy documents Murray Irrigation’s commitment
to achieving a balance between environmental responsibility and
agricultural production.

WATER LICENCING FOR MURRAY IRRIGATION
Murray Irrigation is an irrigation corporation listed in the Water
Management Act 2000 (NSW). As an irrigation corporation, Murray
Irrigation is a private company holding bulk water entitlements on
behalf of its shareholders.
The Water Management Act 2000 (NSW) includes the requirement
for a Water Sharing Plan which describes the rules for the allocation
of water. Murray Irrigation is subject to the Water Sharing Plan for the
New South Wales Murray and Lower Darling Rivers Water Sources.
The Water Management Act 2000 (NSW) requires Murray Irrigation
to hold the following Licences and Approvals:
• The Operating Licence permits Murray Irrigation to carry out
the business of the supply of water. It requires Murray Irrigation
to hold an Environment Protection Licence issued by the
Environment Protection Authority.
• Water Access Licences (WAL) entitle Murray Irrigation as the
licence holder to both own water entitlements, known as the
Share Component, and entitles Murray Irrigation to extract
water in accordance with the Water Sharing Plan, known as
the Extraction Component. Murray Irrigation holds these Water
Access Licences:
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>>

High security – regulated river

>>

Town water supply high security

>>

Conveyance – regulated river

>>

General security – regulated river

>>

Supplementary water

• The Combined Water Supply and Water Use Approval authorises
the Company to extract water using the authorised extraction
water supply works, the Mulwala Canal Offtake and Wakool
Canal Offtake and includes the requirement to produce an
Annual Compliance Report.
• The Combined Water Supply and Work Use Approval for salinity
and watertable management tubewells authorises Murray
Irrigation to operate the Wakool Tullakool Sub-Surface Drainage
Scheme (WTSSDS).

DELIVERING WATER FOR THE ENVIRONMENT
This year we worked with the NSW Office of Environment and Heritage
(OEH) and Commonwealth Environmental Water Holder to deliver
water for the environment to create refuge for native fish during a
massive hypoxic blackwater event in the local river system. This event
was triggered by natural spring flooding. Our channel systems are
perfectly placed to enable the strategic delivery of environmental
water to many natural water courses in this region. The water delivered
through our channels can be delivered rapidly to sites and, because it
tumbles over regulators every few kilometres, it is highly oxygenated
before it enters the waterway. This strategy provided areas of refuge
habitat for native fish during the event and prevented a significant fish
kill. 96GL of water was delivered to achieve this outcome.
Water was delivered to the Tuppal Creek to maintain a healthy
functioning creek system. We also delivered water to private
wetlands through our customers’ outlets – mostly to support
endangered southern bell frogs.
The total water delivered this year for environmental purposes
was 98GL.
Murray Irrigation has also signed an agreement this year with the
NSW OEH that sets an exciting direction to achieve significant

environmental outcomes, whilst maintaining the financial viability
of our Company.

ON-FARM IRRIGATION EFFICIENCY PROGRAM
This is our ninth year implementing the On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency
Program (OFIEP) for our customers.
The Commonwealth Government through the Department of
Agriculture and Water Resources, has sought organisations
experienced in project management related to farm and irrigation
systems to be Delivery Partners for the program. Funding is
provided from the Water for the Future Initiative through the OnFarm Irrigation Efficiency Program.
Murray Irrigation’s role as a Delivery Partner is to assist our
customers with their applications and oversee the implementation
of individual farm projects if approved by the Commonwealth.
Projects seek funds for on-farm works for more efficient irrigation,
in return a portion of the water savings are to be transferred to the
Commonwealth Environmental Water Holder.
Murray Irrigation has successfully completed the Pilot Project,
Rounds One, Two and Four and is currently implementing Round
Five of the program.
The Round Four project was recently completed with 52 projects to the
value of $9.6m (ex. GST) of on-ground funds. As a Delivery Partner,
we also receive Government funds to administer the program.
The Round Five program is in its early stages of works with
contracts for 28 projects commencing to the value of $6m (ex. GST)
of on-ground funds.
These works align nicely with our upgraded channel system through
PIIOP. Better control of water delivery and improved service with
larger flows will play a big role in unlocking the potential of both our
Company’s and farmers’ investments.
Many customers undertaking these projects report not only how
efficient their new layout is, but also how it has improved their crop
diversity and business confidence. The funds are also a welcome
cash injection to suppliers and contractors in our local community
with benefits flowing to other local businesses.

SHARE REGISTER 2016/17 SEASON
Activity
Permanent transfers
applications

LTX (Shares, water entitlements
and delivery entitlements)

0

ETX (Water entitlements)

175

STX (Shares)

17

DTX (Delivery entitlements)

43

ETO (External permanent transfer out water

30

ETI (External permanent transfer in water entitlements) 1
ETM (cancellation acquired by Murray Irrigation
water entitlements)

9

Merges

84 LRN in 27 merged accounts

Amalgamations

51 LRN in 18 new LRN
4 applications

Consolidation

RN – Landholding reference number

Otherwise purchasers whose customer number exists within
the register already are automatically consolidated by default.
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2. INFRASTRUCTURE

Civil maintenance works completed

Strategic objective: We will
provide and maintain infrastructure
that meets our service delivery
requirements.
Murray Irrigation’s infrastructure team is responsible for the
maintenance of the Company’s irrigation delivery and drainage
networks. This includes reactive maintenance, planned maintenance
and replacement of unserviceable assets.

2016/17 (km)

2015/16 (km)

Bank building

60

19

Key trenching

1

0

Desilting/deweeding

296

116

Grading access tracks

470

102

Sanding access tracks

54

0

Access track slashing

110

107

Emergent/noxious weeds

5,053

254

PLANNED AND REACTIVE MAINTENANCE
Frequent wet weather and flooding events resulted in a slow start
to the reporting year. The expertise of our Infrastructure team was
utilised by local councils and customers to assist with pumping
flooded areas.

PROGRAM DELIVERY

Good communication and regular meetings resulted in equal
workloads across our infrastructure teams. Teams were allocated
areas to manage, which resulted in excellent outcomes across the
footprint. The:

Most of Murray Irrigation’s bridges and culverts were built in the
1940s and 1950s and have already passed three quarters of their
design life. Each year Murray Irrigation replaces several of its supply
channel or drainage channel structures that have been identified
as needing replacement for structural, safety, operational or
maintenance reasons.

• Deniliquin team managed both planned and reactive works to the
east and west of our footprint

Structure replacements (not under PIIOP)

• Wakool team managed planned and reactive works west of
Deniliquin and the Wakool Tullakool Sub-Surface Drainage
Scheme (WTSSDS)

2016/17

2015/16

Bridges and culverts

21

14

Subways

8

7

Regulators

2

2

Off-takes

1

2

• Appointed a Weeds Management Officer

Outlets

1

1

• Had up to six spray crews operating

Channel construction

1

• Sprayed more than 5,000km of channel area

Other

10

10

Additional achievements:

Total

44

36

• Finley team managed works in the east and central areas
Weed management was a strong focus for the year and given
the high rainfall it was a particular challenge. To combat the issue
Murray Irrigation:

• Ongoing salt scheme level monitoring - levels remained constant
• Continued to operate and maintain pump sites
• The civil maintenance team embraced the new safety system
early by introducing documentation gradually, so to avoid
information over load and to trial the documentation for relevance
• We continue to develop a future strategy for planned works to tie
into an asset management system

Reactive maintenance jobs completed

ASSET MANAGEMENT
As part of Murray Irrigation’s asset management project, the
company hired ADASA to conduct strategic modelling of its
depreciable service delivery asset stock. The models indicate that
$65.8m in capital expenditure will be required over 10 years to
maintain the average overall condition of structures above a score
of three (fair condition). The average annual capital expenditure
is therefore $6.6m - a significant rise from the 2016/17 budget of
$3.3m, but compares favourably with the average CAPEX prior
to PIIOP of $7.7m. This analysis is primarily based on the age
of the structure.

2016/17

2015/16

Civil

1613

2885

Key recommendations from ADASA’s state of assets report:

Mechanical

56

66

SCADA

510

553

• Develop and implement a condition assessment plan to collect
condition data for all assets, particularly those assets critical to
supply and drainage service delivery.
• Conduct a data cleansing and updating program that can take
the current asset register, as provided by ADASA, and provide
continuous improvement to the available information.
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• Adopt the preferred options scenarios presented in the report as
the capital works program for the next 10 years.
• Update and revise the prediction modelling parameters and
inputs once new condition data is collected.
Murray Irrigation’s Infrastructure team will be carrying out condition
assessments of its bridges and culverts phased to enable the
preparation of a rolling renewals program based on actual condition
of the structures.

3. PROJECTS
Strategic objective: Implement
compliant metering within Murray
Irrigation’s footprint while also
modernising our entire system
and improving on and off-farm
efficiencies.
Murray Irrigation’s Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators
Program is the biggest asset renewal project in our region in the
past 50 years. PIIOP Round 2 will upgrade the way customers
connect to our system and will provide a more accurate and flexible
water delivery service; PIIOP Round 3 will provide greater control
within the main canals.

PIIOP ROUND 2
PIIOP Round 2 involves upgrading the network regulators, farm
outlets, system reconfigurations and system retirements in certain
parts of the network. A large aspect of this project has been focused
on upgrading dated infrastructure with new and automated (or
remote controlled) outlets and regulators which will actively meter
and more effectively deliver water on farm.

Year highlights
• Upgrade of almost 1,300 regulators
• Installation of 1,621 outlets
• 83% completed as at June 30 2017
• Upgrade of telemetry system 95% complete

Work, Health, Safety and Environment
The PIIOP Project is a large and complex infrastructure program.
Since works began in 2013 there have been three medically treated
injuries (MTIs) recorded with one in the reporting year.
The PIIOP team has developed a strict WHSE compliance regime
including audits, corrective actions and hazard identification.
Improvements to the system continue to be made.
In late 2016, the Commonwealth undertook a review of the PIIOP
Round 2 WHSE system. This review was completed in early 2017
with no outstanding issues.

MODERNISATION
“I’ve been pretty impressed
with the technology of
PIIOP and the flexibility
it provides. The upgrades
really made us rethink
how we can best move
water around our farm.
It has also given us the
opportunity to revisit how
we irrigate and ways to be
more efficient.”
Jenny Wheeler

Blighty

024.

Director of Deniliquin Irrigation Contracting Peter Danckert (right) with labourers Alan Dashwood (left) and Nick Bath.

SUPPORTING LOCAL CONTRACTORS
“Working on Murray Irrigation’s PIIOP Round 2 project has been great
for my company. Work has been very consistent and it has allowed me
to employ extra people. We have been running seven to eight crews
consistently for the last four years and have roughly installed around
2,000 outlets, regulators and syphons. One of the best things has been
having consistent work at our backdoor. In the past, we have worked
all over Australia but working locally and being able to live at home
has been great.”
Peter Danckert

Director of Deniliquin Irrigation Contracting
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Works summary
Regulator Program
The Regulator Program involves upgrading the regulators and,
where needed, old concrete infrastructure along the channel
system. As at 30 June:

network providing more on and off-farm efficiencies. Currently there
are more than 60 regulators and three escapes in the project scope.

Year highlights
• Structural condition assessment of 1,000 assets
• 450km of LIDAR Survey

• 1,290 regulator sites were upgraded (94%) of 1,380 total sites

• Hydraulic modelling of the main canal

• A construction schedule was in place to finish upgrades to the
remaining 90 sites

• EC/EM Survey Mapping of 2,700km (the entire Murray Irrigation
network)

• Regulator upgrades were completed in more than 70% of the system

• Construction began on six structures along the Berrigan Canal

Outlet Program

Work, Health, Safety and Environment

The Outlet Program involves upgrading farm outlets with modern
and efficient FlumeGateTM and SlipMeterTM outlets. As at 30 June:
• 1,621 / 2,100 outlets upgraded,
• Outlet Program 77% complete

Prior to works commencing in May 2017, contractors and project
personnel were inducted into the WHSE system. To date, there have
been no major incidents. Environmental management plans have
been established for each site to ensure compliance.

• Outlet consultation close to completion in all 30 Operating Areas
• Upgrade works underway in all 30 Operating Areas

Works summary

The target completion date for the Outlet Program is October 2017.

Site works commenced in May 2017 for the upgrade of six major
regulators on the Berrigan canal. Works are ahead of schedule and on
budget. A number of local contractors and suppliers are involved in the
project, providing economic benefits to the region. Local involvement will
continue to be a focus into next year’s extensive construction program.

Reconfiguration
Reconfiguration allows a customer to remain connected to our channel
system but they assume ownership of part of the channel system. There
may be opportunities to reduce the length of the channel or the number
of major channel assets by altering the supply point. As at 30 June:
• 1,741ML of conveyance water was saved
• The channel network was reduced by 121km
• The number of outlets was reduced by 98 units
• The number of regulators to be upgraded was reduced by 92 units
Reconfiguration works are set to be complete by December 2017.
Sub-System Retirement
The Sub-System Retirement Project involves the strategic retirement
of 30 landholdings from Murray Irrigation’s area of operations and is
scheduled to be finished in December 2017. The voluntary project has
enabled the completion of on-farm works and individually connected
Stock & Domestic (S&D) water supply from the river system. Channel
and asset decommissioning on the Northern, Mallan and Southern
Branch Channel Systems has also been completed in association
with the retirements. As at 30 June:
• 28/30 completed sites
• 28/30 projects were closed with the Commonwealth Government
• 41km of Murray Irrigation channel and asset decommissioning
was completed

Steering committee
The PIIOP Steering committee is chaired by the Executive Manager
Major Engineering Projects Warren Jose and comprises key Murray
Irrigation employees. The committee meets monthly to discuss
all elements of the PIIOP Round 2 project and provides regular
updates to the CEO and Board.

PIIOP ROUND 3
PIIOP Round 3 is focused on upgrading larger infrastructure within
the backbone of the network. These upgrades will provide greater
control within the main canals and links upgrades across the entire

The Network Optimisation Study
Murray Irrigation is in the process of completing an in-depth economic
investigation of the network, which will help us better understand the
operational performance of individual areas. The results will be used
as a planning tool to optimise channel networks and identify water
saving possibilities. $70m from the PIIOP Round 3 funding has been
set aside to complete projects identified as most beneficial to the
network. This sensitive work will remain commercial-in-confidence.

PIIOP Team
Murray Irrigation’s PIIOP team is made up of senior engineering
professionals, financial specialists and project staff. The team works
alongside key Murray Irrigation employees and supporting consultants.
Strategic partners and key contractors
A note of appreciation to our strategic partners and key contractors:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Berrigan Shire Council
Blake Concreting
Boral Concrete Finley
Browns Project Solutions
Comdain Pty Ltd
CPE Pty Ltd
Deniliquin Irrigation Contracting Ltd
Ertech Pty Ltd
Fuller Earthworks
Humes
Mawsons Quarry and Concrete
MILCast
Millers Pipe and Civil Pty Ltd
Moulamein Earthmoving
Murray Trotman Services
Price Merritt
Rendell Construction and Civil
Rhys Tremble Concreting and Engineering
Rubicon Water
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Strategic objective: Customer, community and stakeholder engagement is
strategically planned and aligned to support the business goals to identify
opportunities for mutual benefit, to reduce risk and improve governance.
Key performance indicator

Deliverables

2016/17 performance

2015/16 performance

Effective communication

Talking Water

50

50

Special Talking Water

23

22

Media releases

18

20

YEAR HIGHLIGHTS

STAKEHOLDERS

Undertaking effective customer
consultation to better understand
their needs and effectively
respond to the requirements
of modern irrigators.

Murray Irrigation must operate effectively in the current legislative
environment. It is vital to do so while remaining vigilant and
monitoring State and Federal Governments and agencies to
identify potential changes and opportunities to influence our
operating environment.

The Company is committed to effective engagement across all
aspects of our business. This includes engaging with our
customers and building and fostering constructive relationships
with Government and Government agencies.

CUSTOMERS
The Company established a new way to conduct effective
customer consultation. During February and March 2017,
we hosted 28 meetings with small groups of landholders to discuss
key topics and get a better understanding of customers’ water
delivery service needs.
This process, which engaged 20 percent of the customer base,
was used to provide a report to the Board enabling them to make
informed decisions and led to some key reforms and actions, with
more to come in 2017/18:
• Suspend Total Farm Water Use rules pending review
• Work with RGA to amend Rice Growing Rules
• Upgrade the Murray Irrigation Water Exchange.
• Review fees, operation and service for low water use
(<50ML/yr) outlets
• Freeze water delivery charges in 2017/18

Murray Irrigation maintains constructive relationships with State
and Federal agencies to ensure our business and its unique
strategic characteristics are part of the thought process when
decisions are being made.
Working with Government agencies has resulted in benefits for
Murray Irrigation and our local region in 2016/17 including:
• Delivery of 96GL for the Commonwealth Environmental Water
Office to mitigate blackwater events
• Agreement with WaterNSW to guarantee supply to the Wakool
offtake through the Edward River Escape

5. OTHER BUSINESS
INFORMATION, COMMUNICATION AND TECHNOLOGY
Murray Irrigation continues its commitment to providing customers
with a modern efficient water supply service. Over the last 12
months, the Information Communication and Technology (ICT)
team embarked on a number of projects to ensure that our system
is ready for the finalisation of the PIIOP Round 2 project. These
projects ranged from increasing the capacity of our telemetry
system, upgrading our ICT hardware to ensure redundancy and
continuity of services in the event of any outages in the Deniliquin
office and also increasing both the data speed, capacity and security
of our corporate network.
The ICT team continues to develop and investigate new
technologies and processes to take advantage of the new field
hardware and the information that is collected. We are also
developing strategies to capitalise and identify areas of the business
that need investment such as on ground works.
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Over the last 12 months a number of new systems were
implemented into the workplace, specifically focussing on customer
service. Murray Irrigation has implemented the Customer Interaction
Recording and Action System (CIRAS) to capture all interactions
and provide a better customer service experience. We also focused
on the operation of our channel system with tools and training of our
Remote Controllers team to efficiently operate the channel system
within operation limits.
We continue to work on knowledge management within the business
and with the arrival of PIIOP Round 2 we have identified the need to
give our staff increased visibility and access to all data collected. We
are looking to provide a system that will allow us to better service
our customers with real time data access for better decision making.

MURRAY IRRIGATION WATER EXCHANGE

Summary of trade
Transaction

2016/17

2015/16

Exchange seller listings

1,407

1,506

Exchange buy bids

232

125

Exchange purchases

2,038

1,920

Exchange purchases

201,996 ML

111,444 ML

Exchange purchases

56,244 DE

8,266 DE

ML – megalitre, DE – delivery entitlement, N/A - not applicable

MILCAST

Year highlight
Murray Irrigation’s Water Exchange traded 56,244 delivery
entitlements. This is due to the 824GL delivered on-farm.

Exchange activity
The 2016/17 season saw Murray Irrigation Water Exchange provide
an additional service for customers to trade and purchase water.
Price per megalitre at the highest was $195.00 and at the lowest
was $5.00, the weighted average price for the season $62.53, a
lot less than last season due to the higher allocation. The highest
volume of sales occurred in March with approximately 45,000ML
sold. May also saw a peak in trading activity. Throughout the
season, intervalley trade restrictions limited the opportunity for
transferring and trading water.

MILCast is a business unit of Murray Irrigation Limited and
specialises in the design, manufacture and supply of precast
concrete products for agricultural and commercial uses.
MILCast has witnessed major change over the last year with the
implementation of a new safety system and production processes.
Sales have increased as a result of innovative design and
manufacturing practices. A large increase in demand for MILCast’s
products has been from neighbouring irrigation companies.

Year highlights
• Excellent response to a safety incident
• Implementation of new safety system
• Implementation of new production processes
• New product costings and pricing
• Launched new website
• New agricultural products
• Introduction of Peri Form (new form work allowing for greater
production flexibility)

MILCAST 2016/17 BUSINESS STATISTICS

GR

OSS PROFIT

ZERO

$354,000
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$1.5M

EBIT
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$3.65M

4.

Finance
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Finance
Strategic objective: Achieve breakeven annual probability across a seven-year
business cycle by managing the three key levers of cost, volume and price.
Key performance indicator

Deliverables

2016/17 performance

2015/16 performance

EBIT excl. PIIOP and excl. impairment

Breakeven

-2.416

-9.167m

Operating result (before tax)

Breakeven

25.455m

-49.821m

Working capital (current assets/current liabilities)2 3

Positive (ration exceeds 1)

4.04

2.30

Corporate debt

0

0

0

1

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
After a dry 2015/16, Murray Irrigation saw a bumper water delivery
year in 2016/17 with allocations reaching 100 percent by midNovember, compared to reaching only 23 percent by the end of
the previous season. The 100 percent allocation resulted in 824GL
being delivered on-farm.
This delivery number was boosted by 96GL of water delivered
to help mitigate the black water event caused by the floods of
September-October 2016.
Despite the good water delivery result, Murray Irrigation has
continued to exercise caution with expenditure and tried to keep
costs as low as possible. Costs are up against the previous year,
but are still under that of 2014/15. This is primarily due to higher
maintenance cost after access tracks were damaged and irrigation
channels overrun with weed growth as a result of the floods and
subsequent warm weather, as well as increased staff costs as we
ramp up the roll out PIIOP and transition to the new automated
operating model.
As a result, the operating EBIT result was a loss of $2.416m,
a vast improvement on last year’s $9.167m loss.
Murray Irrigation continues to procure goods and services with
a high degree of diligence.

IMPAIRMENT

Results for 2016/17, in terms of water delivered, support the
rationale of the impairment last year. In 2012/13, a comparable year
when allocations reached 100 percent from the outset of the season
and before PIIOP commenced, water delivery for the year was
1,263GL. This year, with allocations reaching 100 percent by midNovember and high confidence from the outset of the season that
this would occur, deliveries only reached 824GL.
This indicates that even in a high allocation year we no longer have
the capacity, in terms of water availability, to justify the full value of
the assets. The trigger for the impairment review was that we had
lost 27 percent of our water entitlements, and the delivery results
show that this does impact how much we can deliver in a given year.
As such, Murray Irrigation’s position is that the impairment raised
last year is reasonable and does not require adjustment.

TAXATION LEGACY RESOLVED
During 2016/17 Murray Irrigation successfully resolved an
outstanding taxation credit, which saw the Company credited
$6.368m by the Australian Taxation Office. The debt incurred in
relation to Land and Water Management Plan funding between
1996 - 2004. Through diligent work and cooperation between
management and the Board, building on years of work from
previous management teams and Board members, an Act of
Grace payment was received in December 2016. This has been
recognised as abnormal income, and as such is not shown
in the EBIT figure, instead affecting the Company’s net result.

As a result of the impairment raised against the assets of Murray
Irrigation at 30 June 2016, the Company is required to review that
impairment on an annual basis to ensure it is still reasonable in light
of new developments.

1
2
3

Includes government funding revenues and impairment provision expense
Excludes government funds held in trust
Working capital is extremely high due to the transition of the Company’s portfolio holdings from bonds (non-current asset) to cash (current asset) in preparation for transition to a new
portfolio management structure.
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FIGURE 01 KEY INCOME ITEMS
Breakdown of Murray Irrigation’s total revenue for 2016/17 of $77.5m, including government funding for PIIOP Round 2 and PIIOP Round 3,
as well as the $6.368million tax settlement. This figure demonstrates the significance of revenue from customers and investment streams.
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FIGURE 02 KEY EXPENDITURE ITEMS
Breakdown of Murray Irrigation’s total expenditure for 2016/17 of $51.8million. Includes abnormal items and impairment adjustment entries.
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FIGURE
03 CONTRIBUTION TO OPERATING RESULT BY DIVISION
18,000
Breakdown
of Murray Irrigation’s total operating result for each of the business units - Murray Irrigation, MILCast, PIIOP Round 2 and PIIOP
16,000
Round 3.
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Governance
MURRAY IRRIGATION’S APPROACH
TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Murray Irrigation’s Board of Directors and management strongly
support the principles of good corporate governance. This is
particularly important given the highly regulated industry in which
Murray Irrigation and its businesses operate, the Constitutional
requirement for a majority of shareholder Directors who are also
customers, the relatively high barriers to entry for shareholders,
and for the long-term sustainability of our businesses.
The Board seeks to operate as a professional, efficient and effective
body whose practices accord with, and reflect, accepted principles
and standards of corporate governance. The Board ensures that
Murray Irrigation’s corporate governance policies and practices are
reviewed regularly and will continue to be developed and refined
to meet the needs of Murray Irrigation Limited, taking account
of best practice.

IV. Review, ratify and monitor systems of risk management
V. Oversee performance against targets and objectives
VI. Oversee the reporting to shareholders and stakeholders
on the strategic direction, governance and performance
of Murray Irrigation
c) Appoint and oversee the performance of the Chief Executive
Officer (CEO)
d) Oversee the performance of the executives reporting to the CEO.
To assist the Board in the execution of its duties, it enlists, through
delegated powers, the assistance of Management and various
Committees of the Board. The Board agrees the responsibilities and
functions of the Board as well as those of Directors, the Chairman
and those delegated to the CEO and Board Committees.
Powers delegated by the Board to Management include the authority to
manage the day to day operation of the business including to undertake
both financial and non-financial transactions and incur expenditure
on behalf of the Company up to specified thresholds. These authorities
are set down in Murray Irrigation’s Delegation of Authority Policy, which
has been agreed by the Board with Management.
Powers that remain the preserve of the Board as ‘key decisions’
(defined in the company Constitution) include:

Murray Irrigation’s commitment to good corporate governance
is set out in its Corporate Governance Policy which is published
on our website and in the Director’s Handbook. In the setting of
its corporate governance policies and practices, the Board and
Management have taken guidance from:

a) A determination, increase or decrease of Annual Allocation

a) The Australian Securities Exchange Corporate Governance
Principles and Recommendations (2007, with 2010
amendments)

COMPOSITION, SKILLS AND
PERFORMANCE OF THE BOARD

b) Australian Standard AS 8000 Good Governance Principles

The composition of the Board is set, within the parameters approved
by shareholders in the Company’s Constitution, to provide an
appropriate mix of skills and expertise in order for the Board to
discharge its duties. Currently six Directors are member-appointed
Directors and one has been appointed by the Board. The Board
is in the process of recruiting a second non-member director.

c) Applicable standards advocated by the Australian Institute
of Company Directors (AICD) and the Governance
Institute of Australia (GIA).

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES
OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT
The authority of the Board derives from the Corporations Act 2001,
the Company’s Constitution and the State legislation, governing the
licences issued to Murray Irrigation to conduct its operations and
related activities.
The role of the Board is to govern and oversee the management
of the Company’s business on behalf of and for the benefit of
shareholders.
The principal responsibilities of the Board are to:
a) Review, critique, enhance (where appropriate, in collaboration
with Management) and approve the strategies, budgets and
business plans prepared by Management.
b) Assure itself of the effectiveness of the Company’s governance
models, systems and practices including, amongst other things:
I.

The quality, performance and remuneration of the
executive team

II. The appropriateness of organisational arrangements
and structures
III. The adequacy of internal controls, policies, procedures
and processes

b) A determination of charges
c) The investment of reserves

The Board maintains a set of ‘candidate criteria’ for prospective
Directors that addresses all legal and Constitution requirements,
as well as desirable attributes and skills sought by the Board.
This criteria is made available to all potential director candidates
prior to each election or appointment.
The Chairman of the Board is appointed by the Board as a whole in
accordance with procedures developed and adopted by the Board.
Bruce Simpson was appointed Chairman on 11 May 2017.
The Board supports the continuing education of all Directors
and staff to enable them to conduct their duties in an efficient
and knowledgeable manner. Directors are encouraged to obtain
accreditation or membership with the AICD, including completion
of the ‘Company Directors Course’ or equivalent. All Directors have
completed the AICD Company Directors Course.
The Board has committed to undertake an independent evaluation
of its performance and that of individual Directors at least once
every two years, with the last review initiated in June 2017.
The Board collectively discusses the findings from each evaluation
and puts in place an action plan to implement appropriate
recommendations arising from such reviews.
Details of the Directors, their qualifications and experience
are published on pages 38 and 39 of this report and on the
Company’s website.
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DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT AND RE-ELECTION

CODE OF CONDUCT

Directors are required to retire at the fourth AGM following their
election or most recent re-election. Any Director appointed to fill
a casual vacancy since the previous AGM must submit themselves
to shareholders for election at the next AGM.

The Company’s Code of Conduct sets out the standard of behaviour
expected of the Company’s Directors, employees and contractors.
The Code requires them, as a minimum, to:

Board support for a Director’s re-election is not automatic and is
subject to satisfactory Director performance. Directors retiring in
2017 and eligible for re-election are Chairman Bruce Simpson, Tim
McKindlay and James Sides. Each of these directors has decided
to seek re-election.

DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST
As six of the seven Directors are both members and customers
of the Company, by virtue of the requirements set down in the
Constitution, only one Director, being Ben Barlow who was
appointed by the Board, is regarded as an independent Director.
Dr Stone was appointed as an Independent Director on
18 August 2016 and resigned, effective 30 June 2017
to pursue other commitments.
Bearing in mind the composition of the Board and potential for
related party transactions, the Company has put in place appropriate
procedures and protocols to assist Directors to declare, manage
and in some cases prevent any potential conflicts of interest and
enable the Company and Directors to manage any related party
transactions in a transparent and appropriate manner. This includes
appropriate blackout periods where Directors are not permitted to
trade in Murray Irrigation marketable products.
Directors are also required to adhere strictly to the constraints on
their participation and voting in relation to matters in which they
may have an interest, in accordance with the Corporations Act and
Company policies.
Protocols forming part of the organisation’s code of conduct are
enforced in relation to receipt of gifts and corporate hospitality to
ensure that no inappropriate or unethical behaviour occurs or could
be inferred or perceived.
A water trading protocol exists which prevents not only Directors but
also any employee, from acting on or using information prior to it
being publicly available. Directors must notify the Company Secretary
of any permanent or annual transfers carried out. The Board sets an
embargo period preventing trade from the time of a Board decision
affecting allocations or other market sensitive decisions until public
announcement, usually by a ‘Chairman’s Report’.
Murray Irrigation Member Directors Tim McKindlay, Mark Robertson,
James Sides, Chris Brooks, John Bradford and Bruce Simpson are
customers of the Company, enjoying the same terms and conditions
as those applying to all Murray Irrigation customers in receipt of
similar services.
It is a Board Governance Policy consistent with the requirements
of the Corporations Act 2001 that Directors declare their interest
as customers when information which may affect water pricing or
volumes made available, is discussed and decided upon by the
Board. The Directors will either absent themselves during such
discussion, and subsequent voting on resolutions, and or warrant
that they will not buy or sell water entitlements or other tradeable
products prior to such information becoming publicly available.
The Board Governance Policy provides for an embargo period
within which the directors may not trade as customers. It is also
the Board’s policy to disclose volumes held of water and delivery
entitlements in the Annual Report.

• Act in the best interests of the Company and create value for the
Company’s shareholders;
• Act honestly and with integrity and fairness in all dealings with
each other and third parties; and
• Avoid or manage conflicts of interest.
The Company has in place a process for Directors, employees and
third parties to report potential breaches of the Code of Conduct and
a process covering investigations and sanctions should potential
breaches of the Code be identified.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE
The Board supports individual Directors, after following documented
protocols, obtaining independent professional advice at the expense
of the Company to assist them to discharge their duties in a
responsible manner.

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
To assist it further in attending to its duties – and as a means of
providing Directors with first-hand insight into critical aspects of the
Company’s business, the Board has established five committees:
a) Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee.
b) Safety and Infrastructure Committee.
c) Remuneration and Nominations Committee
d) Customer Service Committee
e) Governance Committee.
It is the Board’s intention that each Committee will include at
least one independent, non-executive Director and have its own
charter, which sets out its composition, role, responsibilities and key
processes. The Board has not delegated executive authority to any
of its Board Committees.
The role of the Committees is to report to the Board and provide
appropriate advice and recommendations on matters relevant to
the Committee Charters in order to facilitate effective decision
making by the Board. Committees of the Board serve an essential
purpose in supplementing the resources of the Board where policy
development and implementation, the monitoring and control
of the application of policy, and the carriage of special briefs
are concerned.

Finance, Audit and Risk Management Committee
(FARM Committee)
Membership: Ben Barlow (Chair), Mark Robertson, Chris Brooks,
Tim McKindlay, Bruce Simpson (ex officio)
The FARM Committee is responsible for oversight of the Company’s
finance and statutory reporting practices, risk management, and
related issues including internal and external audits, financial
information and accounting controls, management of investments,
the Company’s ancillary activities, share register, agreements
with government and identifying risks to the company and the risk
management framework. A representative from the auditor may
attend meetings of this Committee from time to time by invitation.
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Safety and Infrastructure Committee (SI Committee)

INTERNAL CONTROL FRAMEWORK

Membership: Tim McKindlay (Chair), John Bradford, James Sides,
Bruce Simpson (ex officio)

The Board is committed to ensuring that appropriate frameworks are
in place and regularly reviewed in relation to:

The Safety and Infrastructure Committee reviews and advises on
matters relating to asset management, maintenance and capital
works programs including:

a) Internal controls

• The development of policies and procedures applicable to
infrastructure;
• Effective life time management of water supply and drainage
infrastructure;
• Infrastructure refurbishment and renewal strategies;
• Strategic infrastructure needs analysis and planning, including
overseeing the development and implementation of the annual
capital works program and maintenance plan;
• Identification of infrastructure risks and ensuring the adequacy
of infrastructure risk management controls; and
• Investment in Research and Development and new technology.

Remuneration and Nominations Committee
Membership: Bruce Simpson (Chair), Ben Barlow, Mark Robertson,
Chris Brooks
The Remuneration Committee considers conditions of employment
and remuneration of all staff and in particular the Chief Executive
Officer, senior management and Directors, including annual
remuneration and bonuses or other incentives. The Committee
also oversees the recruitment of candidates for consideration by
the Board to fill casual vacancies or additions to the Board and for
devising criteria for Board membership and reviewing membership
of the Board.

Customer Service Committee
Membership: John Bradford (Chair), Mark Robertson, James Sides,
Bruce Simpson (ex officio)
The Customer Service Committee’s responsibilities include
reviewing policies and strategies that relate to provision of
value adding customer service and engagement of customers
in significant decision making on customer service matters, and
monitors and oversees the application of all customer related
policies, strategies and plans by management. The Committee has
specific oversight responsibility for policies and strategies covering
communication to and engagement with members, and identification
and management of risks in relation to customer service and
engagement.

Governance Committee
Membership: Ben Barlow (Chair), Tim McKindlay, John Bradford,
Bruce Simpson (ex officio)
The Governance Committee’s purpose includes ensuring there is
a robust and effective process for evaluating the performance of
the Board, the Committees of the Board, and individual Directors,
to foster a culture of corporate compliance, ethical and responsible
behaviour and decision making and good corporate governance
outcomes. The Committee also reviews the Company’s approach
to, and strategies for, ensuring corporate governance and
responsibility remains an important focus and is integrated into
overall business performance.

b) Sound annual budgeting and financial management processes
including capital budgeting and expenditure, procurement,
investment of reserves and taxation management
c) Adequate and appropriate monthly reporting of both financial
and operational performance is provided by Management to the
Board
d) Safety, risk and compliance management and business
continuity planning
e) Preparation of annual and half-yearly financial statements
f)

Assurance reporting on the above topics by both Management
and the company auditor

MANAGEMENT OF RISK
Murray Irrigation has adopted concepts and principles identified in
the AS/NZS ISO 31000:2009 – Risk Management standard in its
Risk Management Framework.
The Framework of policy, processes and guidelines was established
to ensure that the Company’s Risk and Compliance functions,
systems, attributes and responsibilities are monitored and updated
appropriately, including in relation to major projects. These risk
management systems identify the:
a) Nature and likelihood of occurrence for specific material risks;
b) Key controls that are in place to mitigate and manage the risk;
c) Sources and levels of assurance provided on the effective
operation of key controls;
d) Responsibilities for managing these risks;
e) Applicability of a Business Continuity Plan.

POLICIES OF THE COMPANY
The Board of Directors will ensure that Company policies and
procedures are reviewed and updated on a regular basis to ensure
currency and appropriateness.

STRATEGIC PLANNING AND CORPORATE CULTURE
Murray Irrigation’s Board maintains and monitors performance
against a three-year strategic plan reviewed and approved by the
Board each year. The Strategic Plan defines the underlying values
and objectives of the Company over a three-year planning window
and guides Company activities and policy during that time.

BOARD AND SENIOR EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
Remuneration levels and terms of employment for Directors and
Senior Executives are formalised in individual Service Agreements.
The Remuneration and Nominations Committee reviews the
Company’s remuneration strategy, policy and framework on
a regular basis.
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The Company is now positioned to take
advantage of a positive cashflow and build
its reserves for the future.
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SUSTAINABILITY
Murray Irrigation is committed to the long-term sustainability
of its operations and aims to optimise the social, environmental,
workplace and economic impact of its operations for the benefit
of all stakeholders.
The Company will develop and maintain appropriate policies and
protocols to achieve these aims, having regard to compliance with
the company’s various licences and the regulated environment
in which it operates.

DIVERSITY
Refer to page 14 of this Annual Report for information on diversity
at Murray Irrigation. Murray Irrigation provides an annual report
to the Workplace Gender Equality Agency.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS
Murray Irrigation maintains a variety of communication methods
with its shareholders to ensure appropriate and timely information
is provided including:
a) Website
b) Annual Report
c) Annual General Meeting
d) Regular customer information and consultation meetings
e) Weekly bulletins (Talking Water)
f)

Mail-outs

g) Email and other means where appropriate
Murray Irrigation’s website provides stakeholders with a range
of information, including its operations, history, strategies,
values, market information about tradeable products, and
shareholder reports.
Dedicated customer service personnel are available to assist in
responding promptly to all shareholder and customer enquiries.
Such personnel include Water Trade Officers and the
Company Secretary.
Murray Irrigation encourages its shareholders to participate fully
at its Annual General Meeting and other relevant meetings held
by the Company throughout each year.
All ‘external’ policies applying to customers or third parties
outside the Company are approved by the Board and changes
communicated to relevant stakeholders as soon as possible.
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Directors
The following people were Directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year:

Bruce Simpson
Chairman
Dipp AppSc (Ag) (Hons), FAICD
Bruce Simpson is from Denimein
Irrigation District and has been a
shareholder Director since August
2012. Mr Simpson was appointed
Chair in May 2017. He was previously
Chair between November 2013 and
November 2015. He has been a
Director of Peppin Planners since
2001 and prior to this was a Director
of FS Falkiner & Sons Pty. Ltd. He
was Chair of the Murray Group of
Concerned Communities from 2010
to 2013. Mr Simpson is a Fellow of
the Australian Institute of Company
Directors and the Australian Rural
Leadership Foundation.

Tim McKindlay		
B.Ag.Ec. (Hons)

Ben Barlow		
Deputy Chairman
B. Ec, M. Bus (Ag)
Mr Barlow is an independent Director
who was appointed to the Board
in June 2016. He was appointed
Deputy Chair in May 2017. Mr Barlow
has a strong connection to both the
agricultural industry, as well as the
Riverina region. Currently residing
in Corowa, he has past experience
as a farmer and grazier at Hay. He
is also a Board member of the Local
Land Services Western Division. Mr
Barlow has significant connections to
both equity and agribusiness, having
held senior strategic and operational
leadership positions in finance both in Australia and overseas.
He has completed a Bachelor of
Economics and holds a master’s
degree in Business (Agribusiness)
and is a Fellow of the Australian
Rural Leadership Foundation.

Mark Robertson		
GAICD
Mr Robertson is a shareholder Director
who was appointed to the Board in April
2009. He served as Chairman between
November 2015 and May 2017.
Mr Robertson has been a Director
of Ricegrowers’ Limited (trading as
Sunrice) since 1996 and also holds
Director profiles on international
subsidiaries in Papua New Guinea.
He is a graduate of the Australian Rural
Leadership Program and is an owner/
operator of a mixed farming business
in the East Berriquin area.

Mr McKindlay is a shareholder Director
who was appointed to the Board in
November 2009. Mr McKindlay is
Murray Irrigation’s delegate to the
National Irrigators’ Councils.
In September 2012 Mr McKindlay was
appointed to the Board of the National
Irrigators’ Council and was elected
Deputy Chair in November 2013.
Mr McKindlay is a former Chair of the
Deniboota Landholders’ Association,
delegate to Southern Riverina
Irrigators’, and member of both the
NSW State Water Corporation Murray
Lower Darling Customer Service
Committee and the Barmah-Millewa
Consultation Reference Group.
Mr McKindlay is an owner/operator
of a mixed farming business in
the Deniboota area.		
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Chris Brooks		
Mr Brooks is a shareholder Director
elected to the Board in November
2015. He was Managing Director of
the family farming, storage, transport
and trading business, Brooks Grain
from 1986 until 2001 and then CEO
of Australian operations of trading
giant Glencore Grain until 2011. Other
positions held by Mr Brooks include
Managing Director of Corporate Farms
Pty. Ltd. and Chairman of AACL.
He was previously an active Board
member of the Aust. Grain Exporters
Association and Grain Industry
Association of Victoria. Mr Brooks and
his wife Jan currently own and operate
a farming business at Barooga,
focused specifically on irrigated grain
production.

John Bradford

		

MAICD

James Sides		
Mr Sides is a shareholder Director
who was appointed to the Board
in November 2013. Mr Sides is a
former Chair of the West Berriquin
Irrigators’ Council. He is a licenced
Stock and Station, Real Estate Agent
and Auctioneer, operating for over
19 years. Mr Sides operates his
own Rural Property Estate Agency
and Water Brokering business in
association with the national brand
Landmark and has based his business
in Deniliquin and Hay since 1995.
He is a owner/operator of a mixed
livestock and farming business in the
Deniliquin area.

Mr Bradford is a shareholder Director
appointed to the Board in November
2015. He is also a Director on
the NSW Rice Marketing Board
and holds director positions on
SunRice and its Papua New Guinea
subsidiary company. Mr Bradford
is a former Chairman of Southern
Riverina Irrigators and is the Board’s
representative to the NSW Irrigators
Council. Mr Bradford is a Fellow
of the Australian Rural Leadership
Foundation and runs a mixed irrigation
business, predominantly in the
Berriquin and West Berriquin
irrigation areas.		

Former Directors		
Dr Sharman Stone
BA (Hons), MA (Rural Sociology),
GradDipEd., PhD (Monash) MAICD
Dr Stone was appointed an
Independent Director in August 2016.
Dr Stone resigned on 30 June 2017.
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COMPANY PROFILE AND EXECUTIVE
MANAGEMENT TEAM

Ross Mallett
JD, B. Bus, Dip. Corp Mgt,
GradDip. (Leg Prac).
FCPA, FGIA, FCIS
Company Secretary & Executive
Manager Assurance Services

ABOUT US
Murray Irrigation is Australia’s largest private irrigation company,
formed in 1995 as an unlisted public company.
Murray Irrigation is based in southern NSW, and its shareholders
are the irrigator-customers who own the landholdings the
Company supplies water to. This represents over 1,350 family farm
businesses who own over 2,100 landholdings within our area
of operations, covering 724,000 hectares.

VISION, MISSION AND VALUES

Ross started with Murray Irrigation
in July 2015 and brings extensive
experience as a company secretary,
lawyer and senior executive having
worked for a number of large, medium and small listed public
companies in the resources, energy and agriculture industries
including BHP Billiton, WMC, Rio Tinto, Elders and Icon Energy.
Ross is a chartered secretary, qualified lawyer and accountant and
a fellow and former director and National President of the
Governance Institute of Australia.

Our vision is to be a leader in the delivery of irrigation water and
water related products and services.

Assurance Services

Our mission is to meet the needs of customers by delivering high
quality irrigation water and water related products and services
through developing an organisational culture of safety, efficiency,
innovation and customer service.

The Assurance Services team is responsible for providing
a range of services to internal and external stakeholders including
governance, legal, compliance, risk management, and internal
audit services.

Our core values focus on customers, innovation, integrity,
performance, safety, teamwork, community and environment.

Scott Barlow

BOARD
Murray Irrigation presently has seven Directors – six shareholder
Directors and one independent Directors. The Board of Directors
develops and oversees the implementation of the Company’s
strategic direction.
Shareholder Directors are elected by shareholders for a four-year
term. Non-shareholder Directors are nominated by the shareholder
Directors according to their specialist expertise, and their appointment
is endorsed by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

EXECUTIVE TEAM
Murray Irrigation’s executive management team is listed over the
following pages.

Michael Renehan
MBA, M. Eng (Chem), MAICD
Chief Executive Officer
Appointed in June 2015, Michael
Renehan brings more than 15
years’ experience in CEO and
general management roles with
a background in engineering and
manufacturing. He holds a Master
of Business Administration from
Deakin University, a Masters in Chemical Engineering from RMIT
and he is a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
The CEO is responsible for providing the organisation with strategic
leadership and organising the structure of the Company to deliver
services that achieve our vision, mission and values.

AssocDip Applied Science
Executive Manager
Customer Operations
Scott commenced at Murray
Irrigation in April 1996. He holds
significant and diverse experience
within the bulk irrigation industry.
With a background in both irrigated
and mixed dryland farming, and experience in the forestry and
agricultural sectors prior to commencing with Murray Irrigation,
he has played a large role in the water efficiency and operational
development of the Murray Irrigation gravity supply network. Scott has
an Associate Diploma in Applied Science.
Customer Operations
The Customer Operations team comprises four departments:
Operations, Business Planning, Customer Support and Account
Management collectively responsible for water delivery to
landholdings and supplying the townships of Berrigan, Finley,
Wakool and Bunnaloo. The team is also responsible for all customer
facing activities including reception, account management, customer
consultation, and the on-farm irrigation efficiency projects, as well
as order scheduling, account administration and temporary water
transfer and trade. The operational responsibilities include the
operation of Company drainage infrastructure, and the reactive and
preventative maintenance programs for outlets and regulators.
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PC (Pete) Smith

Suni Campbell
B. Bus (Human Resources Mgt)
Executive Manager
Human Resources
Interim Executive
Manager MILCast
Suni started with Murray Irrigation in
January 2016. Suni has extensive
experience in human resource
management with a history of devising effective HR strategies in line with
the broader business requirements. She holds a Bachelor of Business
– Human Resource Management and has worked in senior roles within
Mining, on shore oil drilling and the not for profit sector. Most recently,
Suni was Senior Manager, HR at SA Water where she was key to leading
the business and staff through a major restructure and transformational
change resulting in changed accountability and organisational culture
to become more customer, safety and commercially focused.
Human Resources
The Human Resources team supports the effective and efficient
management of our people within the organisation. This team is
responsible for employee engagement; leadership development;
training and development; performance management; culture
and change; remuneration and benefits; attraction, selection and
retention; workforce planning; payroll; diversity and entry level
programs; workers’ compensation and return to work programs.
The division also completes benchmarking and researches best
practice initiatives to ensure we remain competitive in the job
market to attract and retain the required talent.

Executive Manager
Corporate Affairs
Pete joined Murray Irrigation in
June 2017. He has significant
governance, stakeholder
engagement and issues
management experience with
a number of sectors and has
worked for Leighton Holdings,
Dairy Australia, Internet Security Systems, Queensland Police
Service and he was an Executive Director of Charles Sturt
University. Pete was a senior officer in both the Australian Army
and Royal Australian Navy and prior to Murray Irrigation he
completed a number of major corporate affairs projects for the
Victorian Government.
Corporate Affairs
Corporate Affairs promotes and protects the Company’s reputation
and commercial interests. Corporate Affairs’ responsibilities include
government and industry relations, stakeholder engagement,
marketing, communications and regulatory compliance. Corporate
affairs also oversees the Company’s involvement in state and
national water policy development and produces the annual report,
website content and customer and workplace communications.

David Leslie
B.For.Sc (Hons), M.For.Sc.
Executive Manager Planning
and Strategy

MILCast
MILCast is a business unit of Murray Irrigation which designs,
manufactures and supplies precast concrete products for agricultural
and other commercial uses for customers across NSW and into Victoria.

Warren Jose
B. Eng (Geol), M. Eng Sc
(Geotech), MIE Aust
Executive Manager Major
Engineering Projects
Warren started with Murray Irrigation
in April 2015. He brings diverse
industry experience in the delivery of
infrastructure projects and experience
working within an organisation on
project delivery. Warren has tertiary and post graduate qualifications
in engineering. Most recently, he held the role of General Manager
Infrastructure Delivery at Central Highlands Water (CHW) in Ballarat.
Major Projects
The Major Projects team includes project management, engineering,
design, construction, communication, customer consultation,
commissioning and safety. They are responsible for managing the
capital expenditure program across Murray Irrigation, including
all aspects of the investment through the Private Irrigation
Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP).
Murray Irrigation’s PIIOP Round 2 project will modernise the
irrigation network, while PIIOP Round 3 will undertake system
optimisation opportunities. The PIIOP projects are funded under the
Sustainable Rural Water Use and Infrastructure component of the
Commonwealth Government’s Water for the Future program.

David started in his current role
in June 2015. He had previously
worked with the Company in 2014
as a casual consultant during the
implementation and rollout of our
Standard Level of Service pilot in Yallakool. Prior to this, David held
the position of General Manager at Murray Catchment Management
Authority over a six-year period and more recently he worked with
the NSW Office of Water (now Department of Primary Industries).
Planning and Strategy
Planning and Strategy provides strategic advice, reporting and
analysis on the Company’s policies, performance, compliance and
achievements. This includes assessment against Key Performance
Indicators, identifying opportunities to improve and looking at
customer service impacts and resolutions. Project management
advice is also provided and helps develop project plans and
reporting templates to align organisational objectives.
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Robert Liney
B.Sc (Acc), FCA
Executive Manager Commercial
Services
Robert joined Murray Irrigation in
March 2017. He brings significant
financial and commercial
experience, having worked
with blue chip construction,
manufacturing and resources
organisations across Europe, Asia and Australia. Most recently,
he was the Commercial Manager at Rocla Quarry Products
(Fletcher Building Limited). Robert holds a Bachelor of Science
(Accounting) and is a Fellow Chartered Accountant (FCA),
he is also a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales.
Finance
The Finance division is responsible for overseeing the Company’s
finances and investments, budgeting and forecasting, managing
Company property and contract management. The functions within
the division include accounting, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, asset management, payroll, procurement and managing
suppliers. This division is also responsible for improving financial
systems and processes and the overseeing of PIIOP financial
reporting including regular analysis of key performance metrics.
ICT
The Information, Communications and Technology (ICT) division
is responsible for the Company’s information systems technology,
communications platforms, geographic information systems (GIS),
software and databases, and the Telemetry and SCADA control
system. The SCADA Technologist provide the technical expertise
in the running of the entire channel system. The IT team manages
the Company’s servers, internet services, website and strategic
partnerships with internet and telecommunications providers.
The GIS reporting staff are responsible for all mapping requests,
coordinating satellite imagery and providing service to staff
and customers.

FORMER EXECUTIVES
Perin Davey
Executive Manager Corporate Affairs and Stakeholder Engagement
October 2010 – April 2017
Trevor Heise
Executive Manager Infrastructure
March 2015 – June 2017
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Directors’ report
for the year ended 30 June 2017

Your Directors present their report together with the accounts of the
consolidated entity for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 and the
Auditor’s report thereon.

DIRECTORS

CONDUCT AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The following people were Directors of the Company during or since
the end of the financial year:

Details of the Company’s Code of Conduct and approach to conflict
in interest are set out in the Corporate Governance Statement
of the Annual Report.

B.P. Simpson (Chairman)
B.J. Barlow (Deputy Chairman)
J.M. Bradford
C.R. Brooks
T.W. McKindlay
D.M. Robertson
J.A. Sides
Dr S. Stone (appointed 18 August 2016, resigned 30 June 2017)
For details of directors’ qualifications and experience refer to pages
38 and 39 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST
The relevant interests of the Directors in the share capital, water entitlements, and delivery entitlements of the Company, as at 30 June 2017,
are as follows:
Direct shareholding

Indirect shareholding

Water entitlements

Delivery entitlements

T.W. McKindlay

2,920

-

1,677

2,424

D.M. Robertson

3,487

4,285

5,027

6,371

-

2,413

25

739

J.A. Sides

975

-

310

108

C.R. Brooks

371

6,280

1,948

5,526

2,896

-

1,607

2,407

Shareholder Directors

B.P. Simpson

J.M. Bradford

Where a Director is an authorised representative of a corporate entity, the figures above include the holdings of that entity.
Non-shareholder Directors in office during the year and up to the signing of this Report: B.J. Barlow and Dr S. Stone, hold no Murray Irrigation
shares, water entitlements or delivery entitlements.
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TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Board of Directors have an established minimum standard
that all Directors are required to complete the ‘Company Directors
Course’ provided by the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
This training is organised for any Director elected or appointed to
the Board if they do not already hold the qualification. All Directors
have completed the Company Directors Course.

The Secretaries of the Company at the end of the reporting period,
together with their qualifications and experience, are set out below:

Directors have the right in connection with their duties and
responsibilities as Directors to seek independent professional advice
at the Company’s expense. Prior written approval of the Chairman
is required, which will not be unreasonably withheld.

R.E. Mallett (appointed 14 July 2015)
JD BBus GDLP FCIS FGIA FCPA
Mr Mallett performs the role of Executive Manager Governance and
Assurance and Company Secretary.
M. Renehan (appointed 14 July 2015)
MBA MEng (Chem) MAICD
Mr Renehan is the Chief Executive Officer. Mr Renehan performed
the role of supporting Company Secretary from July 2015.
Secretaries of the Company as at the date of signing of this report
are R.E. Mallett and M. Renehan. The qualifications and experience
of Messrs Mallett and Renehan are set out on page 40 of this
Annual Report.

OFFICERS
Persons who are executive officers of the Company as at the date of signing this report are:
M. Renehan

Chief Executive Officer & supporting Company Secretary

S. Barlow

Executive Manager – Water Delivery

P. Smith

Executive Manager – Corporate Affairs

W. Jose

Executive Manager – Major Engineering Projects

L. Knight (appointed 18 September 2017)

Executive Manager – Infrastructure

S. Campbell

Executive Manager – Business Services

R. Mallett

Executive Manager – Governance & Assurance and Company Secretary

R. Liney (appointed 13 March 2017)

Executive Manager – Commercial Services

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The following table sets out the number of meetings of the Directors held during the financial year to 30 June 2017, including meetings
of committees, and the number of meetings attended by Directors.
Committees
Finance, Audit
and Risk
Management

Board

Safety and
Infrastructure

Remuneration
and
Nominations

Governance

Customer
Service
Committee

Attended

Held

Attended

Held

Attended

Held

Attended

Held

Attended

Held

Attended

Held

B.J. Barlow

9

9

7

7

-

-

2

2

-

-

2

4

J.M. Bradford

9

9

-

-

3

3

1

2

-

-

4

4

C.R. Brooks

9

9

-

-

-

-

-

-

3

3

1

4

T.W. McKindlay

9

9

7

7

3

3

2

2

-

-

-

-

D.M. Robertson

9

9

6

7

2

3

1

2

3

3

3

4

J.A. Sides

5

9

-

-

1

3

-

-

-

-

3

4

B.P. Simpson

9

9

7

7

2

3

1

2

3

3

4

4

S. Stone

6

9

-

-

-

-

-

2

-

-

-

-
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY

DIVIDENDS

The principal activity of Murray Irrigation during the year consisted
of the delivery of water to landholders within an area from the
Murray River to the Billabong Creek extending 150 kilometres to the
west and 100 kilometres to the east of Deniliquin.

The Company is a not-for-profit organisation whose Constitution
requires that no operating surplus may be paid or transferred by way
of a distribution of profit to shareholders.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND RESULTS
FROM THOSE OPERATIONS
A total of 824GL of water was supplied on-farm for the year 1 July
2016 to 30 June 2017, compared to 339GL in the prior financial
year. With water delivery revenue up from the previous year, the
Company was able to post a better operating result (excluding
PIIOP and adjustments) at EBITDA of $1.85 million, a $1.66 million
improvement on the prior year. The Earnings Before Interest and
Tax (EBIT) for 2016/17 was a profit (including PIIOP grant revenue)
of $25.46 million compared to an EBIT loss of $49.82 million for
2015/16 which included an asset write-down of $66.6 million.
Excluding the impairment write down in 2015/16, the improvement
in EBIT year on year was $8.70 million.
For further information on the review of operations and results from
those operations refer to the Chairman’s and CEO’s Reports and the
Operations chapter set out on pages 4, 6 and 18 of this Annual Report.

REVENUE FROM CONTRIBUTED ASSETS
AND TAXATION ASSESSMENTS
Under the Corporations Act, compliance with accounting standards is
mandatory. Accounting Standard AASB 1004 requires that infrastructure
works, when constructed, to the extent to which their cost has been met
from government funding, be treated as revenue of the company even
though the receipt of the funding is not revenue of the company.
Your Directors are concerned that this accounting treatment may
be misleading and are of the view that neither the receipt of any
government funding for reimbursement for infrastructure works nor
the value of the works constructed should be recognised as revenue.
Accordingly, the Directors feel obliged to express their view that the
receipt of both the Land and Water Management Plans drainage
works, the Asset Renewal Program funding of prior years, current
funding in relation to the Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators
Program (PIIOP), or any future such funding should not be recognised
as revenue by way of contributed assets of Murray Irrigation.
The Company has obtained advice over many years in respect to
the application of the Income Tax Law to previous Land and Water
Management Plans and the Asset Renewal Program in order to form
this view. The Company will continue to pursue these matters to
achieve an equitable outcome for the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
Murray Irrigation is subject to NSW environmental legislation
in relation to water and land use. The Company holds an
Environment Protection Licence issued by the NSW Environment
Protection Authority. This licence requires discharges to waterways
to be below specified levels of contaminants. There have been
no breaches of the licence during the reporting period.

CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes
in the state of affairs of the Company not otherwise disclosed in this
report and financial statements.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END
OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD
At 21 September 2017 the New South Wales Murray general
security allocation was 28 percent with a moderate outlook for water
availability for the 2017/18 year. The Company is in a position to
deliver its budgeted volume of water during the coming season.
There has been no other item, transaction or event of a material
and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to affect
significantly the operations of the Company, the results of those
operations or the state of affairs of the Company in subsequent
financial years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The Company’s results are influenced by the level of its operating
costs, the amounts required to be set aside in reserves, and income
derived from the sale of water and other sources. The unpredictability
of the available water resource, government requirements and river
management mean it is not possible to accurately predict the results
of operations. However, Directors will endeavour to protect the
viability of the business in all circumstances.

INDEMNIFICATION AND
INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium indemnifying
officers of the Company. A condition of the contract is that the nature
of the liability indemnified and the premium payable not be disclosed.

CREATING HI-TECH OPPORTUNITIES

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for leave to bring proceedings on behalf
of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the
Company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility
on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf
of the Company with leave of the court under Section 237 of the
Corporations Act 2001.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS TO THE
NEAREST THOUSAND DOLLARS
The Company is of a kind referred to in Instrument 2016/191, issued
by the Australian Securities & Investment Commission, relating to
the rounding of amounts in the Financial report, which have been
rounded off in accordance with that to the nearest thousand dollars.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
The Auditor’s Independence Declaration is set out following these
financial statements and forms part of the Director’s report.
This report is made pursuant to a resolution of the Directors.

BP Simpson
Chairman
21 September 2017

BJ Barlow
Deputy Chairman
21 September 2017
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Consolidated
2017

2016

Notes

(‘000)

(‘000)

Revenue from irrigation undertaking

2

35,926

27,183

Other revenue

2

41,616

41,760

Employee benefit expenses

(12,370)

(10,885)

Materials and contracts expenses

(13,948)

(18,810)

Depreciation

3(a)

(7,109)

(9,449)

(1,645)

(66,579)

(13,329)

(8,759)

(3,686)

(4,282)

Profit/(Loss) before income tax

25,455

(49,821)

Income tax (expense)/benefit

(1,441)

14,559

Profit/(Loss) for the year

24,014

(35,262)

Available for sale financial assets - gains net of tax

283

760

Other comprehensive income for the year

283

760

24,296

(34,502)

Impairment of water infrastructure assets
Bulk water supply expenses
Other expenses

3(c)

Other comprehensive income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement
of financial position
as at 30 June 2017
Consolidated
Assets

Notes

2017

2016

(‘000)

(‘000)

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

5

119,823

54,768

Trade and other receivables

6

12,180

12,198

Inventories

7

11,564

18,593

143,567

85,559

8

25,493

80,348

Property, plant and equipment

9

251,416

215,286

Deferred tax assets

10

9,075

5,310

Intangible assets

11

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Available for sale financial assets

94,694

95,955

Total non-current assets

380,678

396,899

Total assets

524,245

482,458

12,955

14,299

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

12

Provisions

13

2,327

2,083

Current liabilities - Other

14

40,714

27,042

271

182

56,267

43,606

31,702

26,736

Current tax liabilities
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

15

Provisions

16

230

410

Total non-current liabilities

31,932

27,146

Total liabilities

88,199

70,752

436,046

411,706

284,723

284,723

Net assets
Equity
Contributed equity

17

Reserves

18(a)

20,049

19,766

Retained profits

18(b)

131,274

107,217

436,046

411,706

Total equity

The above consolidated statement of Financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement
of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Consolidated

Balance at 30 June 2015
Total comprehensive income

Balance at 30 June 2016

Contributed
equity

Reserves

Retained
earnings

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

284,723

19,006

142,479

446,208

-

760

(35,262)

(34,502)

284,723

19,766

107,217

411,706

284,723

19,766

107,217

411,706

Total comprehensive income

-

283

24,014

24,297

Transfer to contributed asset reserve

-

-

44

44

284,723

20,049

131,275

436,047

Balance at 30 June 2017

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated cash
flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2017
Consolidated
Notes

2017

2016

(‘000)

(‘000)

37,546

32,949

Cash flows from core operating activities
Receipts from customers
Income tax received

6,217

469

(33,858)

(40,261)

9,905

(6,843)

Grants received from government

42,736

14,776

Net cash inflows from non-core operating activities

42,736

14,776

2,609

3,557

73,015

73,334

(18,325)

(68,937)

-

777

(44,884)

(28,266)

12,415

(19,535)

Payment for financial assets

-

(45)

Net cash outflows from financing activities

-

(45)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

65,055

(11,647)

Cash at the beginning on the financial year

54,768

66,415

119,823

54,768

Payments to suppliers and employees
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from operating activities
Cash flows from non-core operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received on investments
Proceeds from sale of financial assets
Purchase of financial assets
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payment for property, plant and equipment
Net cash inflows/(outflows) from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash at the end of the financial year

The above cash flow statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2017

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
This general purpose financial report covers the consolidated entity
of Murray Irrigation Limited (“the company”) and controlled entities
(“consolidated entity” or “group”). Murray Irrigation Limited is
a public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled
in Australia.
Because the company’s principal purpose is to provide cost effective
services to its shareholders, rather than to generate profits, the
company is a not-for-profit entity as defined in the Accounting
Standards. Accordingly, the company has applied the Accounting
Standards as they apply to not-for-profit entities, although it is also
tax assessable.
The following is a summary of the material financial accounting
policies that have been adopted by the consolidated entity in
the preparation of the financial report. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.
The financial statements have been prepared using the measurement
bases specified by Australian Accounting Standards for each type of
asset, liability, income and expense. The measurement bases are
more fully described in the accounting policies below.
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is also
the consolidated entity’s functional currency.

(A) BASIS OF PREPARATION
These consolidated financial statements are general purpose
financial statements which have been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board.
The directors have determined that the company is permitted
to apply the Tier 2 reporting requirements (Australian Accounting
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements) as set out in AASB
1053 “Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards”
because it is a not-for-profit private sector entity that does not
have public accountability.
In the determination of whether an asset or liability is current or
non-current, consideration is given to the time when each asset
or liability is expected to be realised or paid. The asset or liability
is classified as current if it is expected to be turned over within
12 months, or if the company does not have an unconditional right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting date.

(B) INCOME TAX
The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the
current period’s taxable income based on the notional income
tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements, and to unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary
differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the assets are
recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which
are currently enacted. The relevant tax rates are applied to the
cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences
to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made
for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition
of an asset or a liability. No deferred tax asset or liability is
recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose
in a transaction that at the time of the transaction did not affect
either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset tax assets and liabilities. Current tax
assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts
recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.

(C) REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i)

Water sales

Revenue from the sale of water is recognised when the water is
delivered to customers, measured by meter readings conducted
weekly. All water usage measurement is completed before the end
of the financial year, as the ‘irrigation season’ generally concludes
in May. Fixed access and other fees are recognised on a pro-rata
basis throughout the year.
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(ii) Recognition of revenue arising from contributed assets
The company is the implementing authority in respect of a number
of Land and Water Management Plans. Expenditure on these plans
was reimbursed to the company by the NSW State Government, the
Commonwealth Government, relevant local government authorities
and irrigation customer shareholders. Levies received from
irrigation customer shareholders are considered to be payments for
services performed, primarily for maintenance of drainage assets.
In accordance with AASB 118 Revenue, when the outcome of a
transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated
reliably, revenue associated with the transaction shall be recognised
by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the end
of the reporting period. Where the directors have determined that
a constructive obligation to provide these drainage maintenance
services exists at reporting date, revenue has been deferred in
accordance with AASB 118 (refer note 14). Amounts received
from government bodies are defined as a contribution and are
accounted for under AASB 1004 Contributions. Income arising from
the contribution of an asset to the company is recognised when the
entity obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the
contribution, it is probable that the economic benefits comprising
the contribution will flow to the company, and the amount of the
contribution can be measured reliably. The entity does not obtain
control of a contribution under such an agreement until it has met
conditions or provided services or facilities that make it eligible to
receive a contribution. Revenue is therefore deferred until such
conditions have been met.

(iii) On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program
The company has been contracted as a delivery partner for
implementation of the Commonwealth Government funded On-Farm
Irrigation Efficiency Program which is funded under the Water for
the Future Sustainable Rural Water Use and Infrastructure Program.
The Commonwealth of Australia has a Funding Agreement with the
company and a contract for the purchase of Water Entitlements
with the landholder. The company has contracted the landholder
to complete water efficiency investments on their landholding.
The company’s role is to ensure that funds from government are
spent in accordance with the Funding Agreement, and the funds are
received through the company accounts and paid to the landholders
as their projects meet the funding criteria in their agreements. As the
company is considered to be acting as the agent in this program,
gross revenue and expenditure relating to the funds received
from the government and distributed to proponent landholders
is not recognised by the company. Funds received and unspent
are held in bank accounts controlled by the company. Unspent
funds are recognised as a liability (refer note 14). The company’s
administration costs are reimbursed from program funds and are
recognised as revenue as administration services are provided.

• Amounts to be spent on new capital works to improve the water
infrastructure of the company.
For the portion of the grants relating to payments to be made to
landholders, the company’s role is to ensure that irrigation rights
are surrendered in accordance with the Funding Agreement. The
funds are received through the company accounts and paid to the
landholders as their water rights are surrendered and they meet the
funding criteria in their agreements. As the company is considered
to be acting as the agent in this component of the program, gross
revenue and expenditure relating to the funds received from
the government and distributed to proponent landholders is not
recognised by the company. Funds received and unspent are held
in bank accounts controlled by the company, with a corresponding
liability recognised as disclosed in note 14.
In relation to the company’s surrender of Conveyance Water Access
Entitlements (water rights), there are no specific obligations (other
than transfer to the Commonwealth of the relevant water access
licences) or spending requirements attached to this portion of the
grants. Accordingly, these funds are recognised as they are received
and the water licences are surrendered.
Funding relating to capital works is allocated to specific projects and
milestones which are to be completed by the company. Under the
terms of the Funding Agreement, the Commonwealth can require
the return of funding that:
• has not been spent, or legally and irrevocably committed for
expenditure, in accordance with the Funding Agreement; or
• has not been (correctly) spent, or dealt with, in accordance
with the Funding Agreement.
Government contributions for Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators
Program 2 (PIIOP Round 2): Contributions received from the
government for infrastructure improvements are recognised as revenue
as the relevant expenditure is incurred. As the consolidated entity is
obliged under the terms of the funding agreement to undertake the
relevant infrastructure works or refund the money, any unexpended
funds at balance date are brought to account as a liability.
Government contributions for Private Irrigation Infrastructure
Operators Program 3 (PIIOP Round 3): Contributions received from
the government for infrastructure improvements are recognised
as revenue on a percentage of completion basis, as the relevant
expenditure is incurred and when water entitlements are returned.
As this arrangement constitutes a bundled contract, revenue relating to
each element is recognised proportional to their fair value at contract
date as if they were sold performed independently of each other.
As the consolidated entity is obliged under the terms of the funding
agreement to undertake the relevant infrastructure works or refund
the money, any unexpended funds, equivalent to any unperformed
work, at balance date are brought to account as a liability.

(iv) Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP)

(v) Interest income

During the 2013 year, the company and the then Department of
Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and Communities
(representing the Commonwealth) (“the Department”) signed the
Funding Agreement for implementation of the company’s Private
Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) project.

Interest income is recognised when earned.

Broadly, this Funding Agreement can be attributed to three categories:
• Payments to be made to landholders to surrender their
Irrigation Rights;
• Payments to the company to surrender Conveyance
Water Access Entitlements; and

(vi) Revenue from the sale of assets
Revenue from the sale of fixed assets is recognised when risks
and rewards have been passed to the buyer.

(vii) Termination fees
Termination fees are charged and recognised at the time
permanent water transfers occur and associated delivery
entitlements are cancelled.
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(viii) Sale of goods

(H) AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or
receivable. Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon delivery
of the goods to the customers and associated risks of ownership
have passed. All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and
services tax (GST), returns, trade allowances and other duties
and taxes paid.

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise investments in debt
instruments such as fixed and floating rate notes. After initial
recognition, these investments are measured at fair value with gains
or losses recognised in other comprehensive income (available-forsale reserve), except for impairment losses, which are recognised
in profit or loss.

(D) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.

Reversals of impairment losses for available-for-sale debt securities
are recognised in profit or loss if the reversal can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised. For available-for-sale equity investments impairment
reversals are not recognised in profit loss and any subsequent
increase in fair value is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When the asset is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity reserve to profit or loss and presented as a reclassification
adjustment within other comprehensive income.

(E) TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value,
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is the total receivable
less any amounts received and impairment losses. Appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised
in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the amount expected
to be recovered.
Refer to note 1(z) for further information in regard to the company’s
estimate of the recoverable amount of debtors.

(F) INTEREST ON WATER DEBTORS ACCOUNTS
Interest is charged on water customers’ accounts
which are overdue and outside of the normal credit arrangements.

(G) INVENTORIES
Raw materials and stores are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. As the company is a not-for-profit entity,
it considers the remaining service potential of inventories when
assessing the net realisable value of items held for distribution or
use in delivering a service to members. The cost of manufactured
products includes direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
portion of variable and fixed overheads. Costs are assigned on the
basis of weighted average costs.

(I) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment represent non-current assets
comprising land, buildings, infrastructure for the supply and drainage
of water, plant, motor vehicles, radio technology, office and computer
equipment, and land leased from State or Local Government over
or under which water infrastructure is located. All property, plant and
equipment with a cost value in excess of $1,000 and a useful life
of more than one year are recognised as an asset; all other assets
acquired are expensed. Values are recorded at historical cost less
depreciation. Acquisition cost is determined as the fair value of the
assets given up or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition plus
costs incidental to the acquisition. As the company is a not for-profit
entity, where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, the
cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on all infrastructure assets,
buildings, plant, equipment and other non-current physical assets
is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs or
re-valued amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated
remaining useful lives, commencing from the time the asset is
held ready for use. The asset residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
Estimates of remaining useful lives are made on a regular basis for
all assets, with annual reassessments for major items.

The expected useful lives are as follows:
Water infrastructure

10 to 100 years

Leased assets

40 to 100 years

Buildings

40 years

Plant and equipment

8 to 10 years

Office equipment

3 to 14 years

Motor vehicles

2 to 5 years
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(J) LEASED NON-CURRENT ASSETS

(N) MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS

Certain assets comprising shire road bridges and culverts, have
been leased by the company from public and local authorities for
a period of 99 years from the date of privatisation. The company
is obliged to maintain these assets during the period of the leases.
These assets, in view of the long term nature of the leasing
arrangements and the future economic benefits that are likely
to eventuate, are included in non-current assets, on the basis of
control (Note 9). Other leases of fixed assets where substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the asset,
but not the legal ownership, that are transferred to entities in the
consolidated entity are classified as finance leases. Finance leases
are capitalised at the inception of the lease by recording an asset
and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair value
of the leased property and the present value of the minimum
lease payments, including any guaranteed residual values.
Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease
liability and the lease interest expense. The interest expense is
recognised in the profit or loss so as to achieve a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability outstanding.
Leased assets are depreciated on a straight line basis over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term. Lease payments
for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits
remain with the lessor, are charged to profit or loss on a straight
line basis over the lease term.

Maintenance, repair costs and minor renewals are charged as
expenses occur on the basis that asset lives are being preserved
to expectation, rather than extended. Where the repair relates to the
replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the
capitalisation threshold, the cost is capitalised and amortised.

(K) NON-CURRENT ASSETS CONSTRUCTED
BY THE COMPANY
Where assets are constructed by the company, the cost at which
they are recorded includes all materials used in construction, direct
labour on the project, and an appropriate share of other directly
attributable costs, such as design and project management.

(L) INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Water licences held by the company are recognised at cost less
impairment losses. Water rights have an indefinite useful life, and
are thus not subject to amortisation, but are tested for impairment
by comparing their recoverable amount with their carrying amount.

(M) IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
Assets are reviewed annually for impairment, or whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
As the company is a not-for-profit entity and the future economic
benefits of the company’s assets is not primarily dependent on
their ability to generate cash flows, value in use is taken to be
the depreciated replacement cost of the asset, provided that the
company would, if deprived of the asset, replace it.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are reviewed annually
as to whether their carrying value exceeds their recoverable amount.
In addition, the commencement of the PIIOP project has created
an expectation that a significant portion of the company’s capital
assets will be replaced, decommissioned or handed over to the
landholders in future years. Where the company has been able to
make a reasonable estimate of such items, the carrying amount of
the relevant assets has been reduced to their recoverable amount.
That reduction in the cost of the asset is recognised as an
impairment loss through profit and loss.

(O) TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services
provided to the company up to the reporting date which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 28 days
of recognition.

(P) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount
of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from
the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost
of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. Receivables
and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable
or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to,
the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables
in the balance sheet. Cash flows are presented on a gross basis,
inclusive of GST. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing or financing activities which are recoverable from,
or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating
cash flows.

(Q) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
(i)

Wages, salaries, superannuation, annual leave and sick leave

Provision is made for the group’s liability for employee benefits
arising from services rendered by employees to reporting date.
Employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year
have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liability is settled, plus related on costs. Employee benefits payable
later than one year have been measured at the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits.
All employees belong to a superannuation scheme, which is of the
defined contribution type. Contributions to these defined contribution
superannuation schemes are recognised as an expense in the
period that they are payable. The amount charged represents the
contributions made by the group to the superannuation plan in
respect to the current services of group directors and employees.
The contributions are based on the choice of plans made by each
employee and the relevant rules of each plan.
Employees are entitled to 10 days personal leave per annum
on a cumulative basis for either personal illness or primary care
of immediate family. No liability is brought to account as the
expected future payments are unlikely to exceed the personal
leave entitlements.
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(ii) Long service leave

(S) RESERVES

Current liability - unconditional long service leave (representing
10 or more years of continuous service) is disclosed as a current
liability even where the group does not expect to settle the liability
within 12 months because it does not have an unconditional right
to defer the settlement should an employee take leave within
12 months. The components of this current liability are
measured at:

The Constitution allows that the directors may set aside financial
reserve accounts to be applied at the discretion of the directors
for any purpose to which the reserves may be applied, subject to
satisfying the requirements of the Operating Licence issued by the
New South Wales State Government.

• Present value – component that the group does not expect
to settle within 12 months; and
• Nominal value – component that the group expects
to settle within 12 months.
Non-current liability – conditional long service leave
(representing less than 10 years of continuous service) is disclosed
as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the
settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the
requisite years of service. Conditional long service leave is required
to be measured at present value. In calculating present value, pro
rata years of service utilising current salary and wage rates are
calculated, and indexed using the Australian Bureau of Statistics
Wage Price Index.
Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the
reporting date on high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity
and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated
future cash outflows.

(R) PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required
to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence
available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties
associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number
of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations
as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their present values,
where the time value of money is material.
Any reimbursement that the group can be virtually certain to collect
from a third party with respect to the obligation is recognised
as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the
amount of the related provision.
No liability is recognised if an outflow of economic resources as
a result of present obligation is not probable. Such situations are
disclosed as contingent liabilities, unless the outflow of resources
is remote in which case no liability is recognised.

(i)

Water reserve

The purpose of the Water reserve is to set aside funds for future
investment in water related products and services. The source
of funds is from the sale of a proportion of the Murray Irrigation
Limited Supplementary Water Access Licence.

(ii) Available for sale asset revaluation reserve
All movements in the fair value of financial assets classified as
available-for-sale are recorded in the available for sale reserve,
except where the asset is considered to be impaired, in which case
the impairment is recognised in profit and loss. This reserve is net
of any deferred tax relating to the revaluation of available
for sale assets.

(T) WEBSITE AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY COSTS
Costs in relation to website development and maintenance are
recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred,
unless they relate to the acquisition of an asset, in which case they
are capitalised and amortised over the period of expected benefits.
The company considers that its website does not give rise to
sufficient identifying value or costs to be regarded as an Intangible
Asset under AASB 138.
Information Technology costs including hardware and software
generally relate to acquisition of assets of different useful lives,
and are capitalised and amortised. Costs in relation to feasibility
studies or business process reviews leading to specifications
forming part of subsequent technology implementation are
considered as expenses. Costs in relation to building or enhancing
Information Technology, to the extent that they represent probable
future economic benefits controlled by the group that can be reliably
measured, are capitalised as an asset and amortised over the
period of expected benefits.

(U) ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The consolidated entity is of a kind referred to in Class Order
2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities & Investments
Commission, relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the financial
report. Amounts in the financial report have been rounded off in
accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars.
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(V) COMPARATIVES

RECOVERABLE AMOUNT OF RECEIVABLES

Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies applied are
consistent with those of prior years. Where necessary, comparatives
have been reclassified for consistency with current year disclosures.

The company has made an estimate of the recoverable amount
of all receivables. This estimate requires the use of assumptions
and a considerable degree of uncertainty exists. The company
has various receivables from customers, largely relating to water
accounts, MILCast debtors and those relating to the Water
Bank operations. The group has specifically identified all debtor
balances that are considered to be doubtful based on past history
of repayments, status of account and other factors in place at year
end. The company has therefore made the assumption that the full
amount of those particular loans is not recoverable, limited to the
extent described below. The consolidated entity holds security over
these debtors in the form of the water entitlements held by irrigator
customers. The value of these doubtful debtors is therefore only
reduced by the fair value of the security held, as this is considered
to be the amount recoverable by the company. Where the carrying
amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the difference is
recognised as an expense in profit or loss. Where impairment losses
are subsequently reversed they are recognised as a reversal
of impairment loss in the profit or loss.

(W) DIVIDEND POLICY
Under the company’s Constitution, the company is prevented
from paying dividends.

(X) PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and
liabilities of all subsidiaries of Murray Irrigation Limited (“parent
entity”) as at 30 June 2017 and the results of all subsidiaries for
the year then ended. Murray Irrigation Limited and its subsidiaries
are referred to in this financial report as the “consolidated entity”
or “group”. The parent entity controls a subsidiary if it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the subsidiary. A list of subsidiaries is contained in
Note 24 to the financial statements. All subsidiaries have a June
financial year end. All intercompany balances and transactions
between entities in the consolidated entity have been eliminated
on consolidation, including unrealised gains and losses on
transactions between group entities. Where unrealised losses
on intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the
underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a group
perspective. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with those policies adopted
by the consolidated entity.

(Y) SEGMENT REPORTING
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged
in providing services that are subject to risk and returns that are
different to those of other business segments. Refer note 26.

(Z) CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian
Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management and directors to exercise
their judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting
policies. The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.

ASSESSMENT OF IMPAIRMENT
In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable
amount of each asset or cash generating unit based on the
depreciated replacement cost of the assets in the relevant cash
generating unit. Estimation uncertainty relates to assumptions about
the replacement cost of the asset and its depreciated balance based
on the useful life of the asset.

ESTIMATES OF REMAINING USEFUL LIVES OF PPE
Estimates of remaining useful lives are made on a regular basis
for all assets, with annual reassessments for major items.
These reassessments require the company to make significant
estimates and assumptions in respect of its intentions for certain
assets, based on the broader strategic plan and specific funded
projects that are in place at reporting date. Should these plans not
eventuate or be completed to a different timeframe than initially
anticipated, useful lives of some assets, and therefore carrying
value, may be significantly different than initially estimated.
As a result of successful PIIOP funding a significant number
of assets will either be replaced or removed. It is assumed the
majority of dethridge wheels will be replaced and 7% of regulators
will not be required after the program is finished. Therefore,
a provision has been created to provide for the expected
impairment of these assets.

VALUATION OF AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
The majority of available-for-sale investments held by the company
are not listed on an exchange and therefore no market price can
be observed. Calculation of the fair value of these assets is
therefore based on other methodologies, such as analysing off
market trading and considering the expected cash flows attached
to the instruments, taking into account the instrument’s estimated
yield to maturity.
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2. REVENUE
2017

2016

$’000

$’000

21,735

17,582

2,242

1,460

11,810

8,084

139

57

35,926

27,183

MILCast external sales

2,870

2,520

Interest received

2,609

3,886

Gain/(Loss) on sale of AFS investments

(492)

(1,269)

-

388

Revenue from irrigation undertaking
Income from water sales
Income from Snowy Advance (exercise fees)
Income from water sales - government recoveries
Termination fees
Revenue from irrigation undertaking
Other revenue

Net gain on disposal of property plant and equipment
Infrastructure – contributed assets

81

95

8,745

1,377

Government funding – sale of conveyance water PIIOP Round 2

12,769

13,287

Government funding – water infrastructure assets PIIOP Round 2

8,572

20,878

Other income*

Government funding – sale of conveyance water PIIOP Round 3

836

-

5,284

-

342

598

Other revenue

41,615

41,760

Total revenue

77,541

68,943

Government funding – water infrastructure assets PIIOP Round 3
Government funding – On Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program

* Other income includes a one-off abnormal income item from the Australian Taxation Office in the amount of $6.368m as final settlement for a long running tax dispute between the Company
and the ATO.
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3. EXPENSES
2017

2016

$’000

$’000

69

96

Plant and equipment

425

732

Office equipment

364

386

Motor vehicles

732

666

Water infrastructure

4,710

6,565

Total depreciation

6,300

8,445

Profit before income tax includes the following specific expenses:
(a) Depreciation and amortisation:
Depreciation:
Buildings

Amortisation of leased assets

809

1,004

7,109

9,449

• assets identified to be replaced, scrapped or handed over in future periods - PIIOP Round 2

4,462

5,535

• assets identified to be replaced, scrapped or handed over in future periods - PIIOP Round 3

2,963

-

• assets estimated to be replaced, scrapped or handed over in future periods - PIIOP Round 2

1,394

2,730

66,579

66,579

75,398

74,844

Total depreciation and amortisation
(b) Impairment of water infrastructure assets
The commencement of the Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP)
has created an expectation that a portion of the company’s water infrastructure assets
will be replaced, decommissioned or handed over to customers in future years.

• Impairment of water infrastructure assets

During 2015/16, the Company recognised an impairment due to the reduction in available water, making the Value in Use of the Company’s
assets reduce. As a result, the Company is required to review the appropriateness of that impairment annually. Based on delivery outcomes
in 2016/17 and the early announcement at a 100% water allocation, it has been determined that the impairment raised in 2015/16 was
appropriate and no further adjustment is required at this time.
In 2016/17, $1.09m worth of assets were disposed under the PIIOP Round 2 program. These assets were accounted for under PIIOP Round
2 provision. The provision was also reduced by $1.32m after a review of the remaining assets to be disposed of under the PIIOP Round 2
renewal program. In addition, a further provision of $2.96m was raised to recognise the decommissioning of assets under the PIIOP Round 3
program of works.
(c) Other expenses:
Other expenses in 2016/17 includes abnormal costs such as writeoff
of prior year expense from WIP and Company restructure costs.
3,686

4,282

4,726

6,825

(d) Employee benefit expenses capitalised
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4. INCOME TAXES
2017

2016

$’000

$’000

(1,436)

(780)

Deferred tax (i) and (ii)

1,202

(13,813)

Under/(over) provision in prior year

1,675

34

Aggregate income tax expense

1,441

(14,559)

Current tax

(i) Deferred tax comprises:
(Increase) in deferred tax assets
Increase/(Decrease) in deferred tax liabilities

(3,764)

(1,486)

4,966

(12,652)

1,202

(14,138)

1,320

(13,813)

(ii) (Increase)/decrease in deferred tax represented by:
Income tax expense
Other comprehensive income

(325)
121
1,441

(14,138)

25,454

(49,821)

7,636

(14,946)

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax (benefit)/expense:
The aggregate amount of income tax attributable to the financial year differs from the
amount calculated on the operating profit:
The differences are reconciled as follows:
Net profit before income tax
Income tax expense calculated @ 30% (2016:30%)
Non-deductible expenditure
Non-assessable income (government funding)

4

23,955

(8,367)

(10,840)

-

-

493

(12,762)

Utilised losses in current year
Other non assessable amounts
(Over) / under provision in prior year

1,675

34

1,441

(14,559)

063.

CREATING HI-TECH OPPORTUNITIES

5. CURRENT ASSETS – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2017

2016

$’000

$’000

119,823

54,768

1,711

3,086

Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) Round 2

18,877

28,682

Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) Round 3

27,910

-

Land and Water Management Plans and AMRR

33,641

12,971

37,684

10,029

119,823

54,768

Cash at bank and on hand:
Restrictions are imposed on access to certain of the above funds as follows:
On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program (OFIEP)

Unrestricted funds

The increase in Current Assets - Cash and cash equivalents and conversely, the decrease in Non-current assets - Available for sale financial
assets is due to the implementation of a new company policy and mandate on the management of the Company’s investment portfolio.
The former holdings of fixed interest bonds has been largely sold, with the intention of transferring all investment reserves into a managed fund
arrangement with two providers, being Janus Henderson (cash and fixed interest holdings) and Bennelong (equity holdings). The make up
of the new portfolio will be 70% cash, 25% fixed interest and 5% equity. At year end the Company was mid way through the transition,
meaning that a large number of the former fixed interest holdings had been converted to cash in preparation for the transition.

6. CURRENT ASSETS – TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Water debtors

9,443

4,789

Less provision for doubtful debts - Murray Irrigation

(443)

(565)

9,000

4,224

MILCast debtors

587

363

Less provision for doubtful debts - MILCast

(25)

(25)

562

338

Accrued income

1,183

2,475

Other receivables and prepayments

1,435

5,161

12,180

12,198

a) Water debtors are invoiced four times per year: 30 September, 31 December, 31 March and 30 June, with payment due on 30 days’ terms.
Interest is calculated at the rate stipulated in the New South Wales Water Management Act 2000 and accumulates on overdue balances.
b) MILCast debtors are invoiced on delivery of goods with payment due on 30 day terms.
Reconciliation of allowance for doubtful debts
Balance as at 1 July
Amounts written back
Balance as at 30 June

589

590

(121)

(1)

468

589
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7. CURRENT ASSETS – INVENTORIES

MILCast inventories

2017

2016

$’000

$’000

599

1,224

Consumables

1,396

824

Less provision for obsolescence

(683)

(75)

10,252

16,620

11,564

18,593

Water infrastructure assets not yet installed

Reduction in balance of inventories on hand is due to the drawdown on inventory by the PIIOP Round 2 program as the project nears
completion.

8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
Floating rate notes
Fixed rate notes
Inflation linked notes

2017

2016

$’000

$’000

16,732

45,874

6,468

16,031

2,293

18,443

25,493

80,348

The increase in Current Assets - Cash and cash equivalents and conversely, the decrease in Non-current assets - Available for sale financial
Assets is due to the implementation of a new company policy and mandate on the management of the Company’s investment portfolio.
The Former holdings of fixed interest bonds has been largely sold, with the intention of transferring all investment reserves into a managed
fund arrangement with two providers, being Janus Henderson (cash and fixed interest holdings) and Bennelong (equity holdings). The make
up of the new portfolio will be 70% cash, 25% fixed interest and 5% equity. At year end the Company was mid way through the transition,
meaning that a large number of the former fixed interest holdings had been converted to cash in preparation for the transition.
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9. NON-CURRENT ASSETS, PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
2017

2016

$’000

$’000

2,010

1,959

Water infrastructure

336,538

305,294

Less accumulated depreciation

(88,699)

(85,045)

Less provision for impairment

(75,398)

(74,844)

172,441

145,405

Construction in progress

32,646

22,781

Leased assets- at cost

51,162

50,955

(15,483)

(14,733)

35,679

36,222

Buildings and cottages- at cost

3,541

3,446

Less accumulated depreciation

(1,031)

(964)

2,510

2,482

Freehold land- at cost

Less accumulated amortisation

Plant and equipment- at cost

10,483

10,262

Less accumulated depreciation

(6,606)

(6,346)

3,877

3,916

4,370

3,540

(3,382)

(3,016)

988

524

3,241

3,241

(1,976)

(1,244)

Office equipment- at cost
Less accumulated depreciation

Motor vehicles- at cost
Less accumulated depreciation

Carrying
amount at

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Transfers

1,265

1,997

251,416

215,286

Impairment

30 June
2017

1 July 2016
$’000
Land

Carrying
Amount

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

1,959

-

-

-

51

-

2,010

145,405

-

(1,043)

(4,710)

33,343

(554)

172,441

Construction in progress

22,781

44,955

-

-

(35,090)

-

32,646

Leased assets

Water Infrastructure

36,222

-

(48)

(809)

314

-

35,679

Buildings

2,482

-

-

(69)

97

-

2,510

Plant and equipment

3,916

-

(71)

(425)

457

-

3,877

524

-

-

(364)

828

-

988

1,997

-

-

(732)

-

-

1,265

215,286

44,955

(1,162)

(7,109)

-

(554)

251,416

Office equipment
Motor vehicles
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10. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
2017

2016

$’000

$’000

2,399

2,428

Employee benefits

767

748

Doubtful debts

140

177

5,769

1,857

-

-

9,075

5,210

-

100

9,075

5,310

83,383

84,644

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Accounts recognised in profit or loss:
Land and Water Management Plans

Carried forward tax losses
Other temporary differences
Accounts recognised in other comprehensive income
Available for sale assets

11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Conveyance Water Access Licence at cost (a)
Supplementary Water Access Licence at cost (b)

11,311

11,311

94,694

95,955

Conveyance
Water Access

Unit Shares

2017

2016

$’000

$’000

Balance at 1 July

292,010

297,060

Unit shares sold

(4,350)

(5,050)

287,660

292,010

Reconciliation of movement in intangible assets

At reporting date, the Company held a 287,660 (2016: 292,010) unit shares of Conveyance Water Access Licence and 121,704
(2016: 121,704) unit shares of Supplementary Water Access Licence. During the year the Company sold 4,350 unit shares (2016: 5,050)
of Conveyance Water as part of the PIIOP funding program.
Water rights have an indefinite useful life as a result of their legal form and are not amortised. The Company has made this assessment
based on past experience, which suggests that the licences will continue to be renewed at substantially the same terms and conditions.
a) The most recent independent valuation obtained for the Conveyance Water Access licences was at 19 July 2010 and resulted in a
valuation of $2,050 per unit share. The Directors have reassessed the fair value of the water licences at reporting date and believe that
it is approximately $1,987 per unit share.
b) The most recent independent valuation obtained for the Supplementary Water Access Licence was at 1 September 2014 and resulted
in a valuation of $250 per unit share, equating to a total fair value of $30,426,000
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12. CURRENT LIABILITIES – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2017

2016

$’000

$’000

Trade creditors

4,091

7,017

Other creditors

8,864

7,282

12,955

14,299

Trade creditors are normally settled on 28 day terms. The company has a $500,000 lease facility which is currently not being utilised.

13. CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS
Employee entitlements - Current

2,327

2,083

Land and Water Management Plans

7,997

8,092

On-Farm Irrigation Efficiency Program

1,155

2,579

Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) Round 2

5,143

16,371

Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program (PIIOP) Round 3

26,419

-

40,714

27,042

14. CURRENT LIABILITIES OTHER

A portion of the Land & Water Management Plan funds is applied to support community activities based on applications from Landholder
Associations in support of specific programs, with the remainder apportioned to reconfigurations and other water initiatives.

15. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The balances comprise temporary differences attributable to:
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Consumable stores

220

225

Accrued income

213

742

Accrued interest

128

-

27

453

Other - Prepayments
Capital allowances and depreciation

31,093

25,316

31,681

26,736

Accounts recognised in other comprehensive income
Available for sale assets

21

-

31,702

26,736
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16. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES – PROVISIONS
Employee entitlements

2017

2016

$’000

$’000

230

410

17. EQUITY – CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Share capital
Ordinary shares

No. Shares

No. Shares

$’000

$’000

2017

2016

2017

2016

1,394,655

1,414,592

284,723

284,723
Shares

Reconciliation of movement in Share Capital
Balance at 1 July
Shares cancelled
Balance at 30 June

2017

2016

1,414,592

1,422,821

(19,937)

(8,229)

1,394,655

1,414,592

The share capital of the company consists only of fully paid ordinary shares; the shares do not have a par value. All shares represent one vote at a
shareholders’ meeting. Being a not-for-profit company, the shares have no rights to dividends or the distribution of capital on winding up of the company.

18. EQUITY – RESERVES AND RETAINED PROFITS
2017

2016

$’000

$’000

20,000

20,000

(a) Reserves:
Water reserve
Available for sale assets revaluation reserve

49

(234)

20,049

19,766

Balance – 1 July

20,000

20,000

Balance – 30 June

20,000

20,000

(234)

(994)

Water reserve

Available for sale assets revaluation reserve
Balance – 1 July
Other comprehensive income
Balance – 30 June

283

760

49

(234)

107,217

142,479

24,013

(35,262)

44

-

131,275

107,217

(b) Retained profits
Retained profits - Balance carried forward
Net profit/(loss)
Transfer to contributed asset reserve
Balance - 30 June
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19. RELATED PARTIES
(A) KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
(i)

Directors

The following persons were directors of Murray Irrigation Ltd for the whole year ended June 2017 unless otherwise stated:			
BJ Barlow, JM Bradford, CR Brooks, TW McKindlay, DM Robertson, JA Sides, BP Simpson, Dr S Stone (appointed 18 Aug 2016,
resigned 30 Jun 2017).

(ii) Other key management
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling activities of the group, directly or indirectly
during the financial year:					
M Renehan, S Barlow, S Campbell, P Davey (resigned 7 Apr 2017), P De Vreede (resigned 5 Aug 2016), T Heise (resigned 9 Jun 2017),
W Jose, D Leslie, R Liney (commenced 13 Mar 2017), R Mallett, C Pepper, J Perrett, M Piko (resigned 2 Mar 2017), P Smith
(commenced 13 Jun 2017).			

(B) KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
Short-term Superannuation

Long term
benefits

Cash bonus

Long Service
Leave

Gross salary

Total 2017

Total 2016

$

$

$

$

$

$

-

-

-

-

-

37,240

BJ Barlow

35,631

-

3,385

-

39,016

-

JM Bradford

35,528

-

3,375

-

38,903

21,885

CR Brooks

32,472

-

3,085

-

35,557

21,655

R Clubb

-

-

-

-

-

17,708

ML Hughes

-

-

-

-

-

16,232

42,667

-

4,053

-

46,720

54,129

Directors
CD Badger

TW McKindlay
RE Reynoldson

-

-

-

-

-

16,232

DM Robertson

63,592

-

6,041

-

69,633

66,014

JA Sides

31,473

-

2,990

-

34,463

36,645

BP Simpson

47,368

-

4,500

-

51,868

57,740

2,461

-

28,361

-

314,631

-

29,890

-

344,521

345,480

Other key management*

1,998,703

121,000

197,523

68,704

2,385,930

2,860,839

Total

2,313,334

121,000

227,413

68,704

2,730,451

3,206,319

Dr S Stone
Directors total

25,900

*Additional Payments include temporary salary alterations and entitlements on termination subject to superannuation.
*Additional Payments include entitlements on termination and redundancy - not subject to superannuation.

(C) KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL EQUITY
No. Shares

Ordinary Shares held

No. Shares

2017

2016

23,627

22,980
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(D) OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
During the period the company delivered water for cropping and other activities to a number of directors and other key management personnel
or their related entities on commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those which is reasonable to expect would have been
adopted if dealing with them at arm’s length in the same circumstances. The value of these transactions totalled $470,032 (2016: $370,006).
During the year the company received no payments from directors in relation to options for delivery of water under the Snowy Advance
scheme (2016: $26,880). During the year the company received payments from a number of directors in relation to the exercise of options
for delivery of 585ML under the Snowy Advance scheme, totalling $22,815 (2016: $0).
Shareholder directors receive annual allocation and water efficiency allocations based on their water and delivery entitlements, on the same
terms as all other shareholders and customers.
Aggregate amounts payable or receivable from directors and other key management personnel or their related entities as at balance date:

Water Accounts Receivable

$’000

$’000

100

78

2017

2016

$

$

95,438

66,611

(E) LOANS TO KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
There are no loans to directors or other key management personnel.

20. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
During the year, the auditor earned the following remuneration:
Audit of financial report
Other assurance services
Total audit and other assurance services
Taxation services (*note - this relates to tax advice services, not preparation of returns)
Other non-assurance services
Total Remuneration

22,787

24,495

118,225

91,106

7,010

5,225

51,676

7,040

176,911

103,371

During the current year, the company’s auditor was engaged to assist in the acquittal of government funded programs and to provide advice
on tax treatments.

21. COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments
Operating commitments
Total commitments

11,848

28,178

6,355

563

18,203

28,741
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22. LAND AND WATER MANAGEMENT PLANS
(A) INCLUDES FARM REBATES, MONITORING, EDUCATION AND ADMINISTRATION
I.

Details of income and expenditure on the Land and Water Management Plans are as follows:
Berriquin

Cadell

Denimein

Wakool

Total

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

172

195

71

77

2

4

66

37

311

313

172

195

71

77

2

4

66

37

311

313

(406)

-

(1)

-

-

(44)

-

(34)

(407)

(78)

(406)

-

(1)

-

-

(44)

-

(34)

(407)

(78)

(234)

195

71

77

2

(40)

66

3

(96)

235

Income
Irrigator contributions and interest on funds
Expenditure
Expenses incurred (a)
Net funds accumulated

ii) Details of Land and Water Management Plans Funds held as implementing authority are as follows:
Berriquin

Cadell

Denimein

Wakool

Total

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

2017

2016

Opening balance – July 1

5,065

4,870

2,038

1,961

49

89

943

940

8,095

7,860

Add net funds accumulated/(expended)

(235)

195

70

77

2

(40)

65

3

(98)

235

Closing balance – 30 June (Note 14)

4,830

5,065

2,108

2,038

51

49

1,008

943

7,997

8,095

23. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OPERATING LEASE INCOME

Less than 1 year

2017

2016

$’000

$’000

3

3

More than 1 year to less than 5 years

15

15

More than 5 years

52

56

70

73

The company has a lease agreement for land to be used by Telstra until 2033.

(A) NET FAIR VALUES
The net fair values of financial assets and liabilities at the reporting date approximates the respective carrying values in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
For further information regarding fair values of available-for-sale assets, refer to note 8.
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(B) CREDIT RISK EXPOSURE
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk
arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks as well as other credit exposures including outstanding receivables and
long-term investments in interest bearing securities. The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date is the carrying amount
of financial assets.
To manage its short-term credit risk the company invests surplus funds in term deposits to maximise its return while reducing the potential
effect of the short-term unpredictability of financial markets. These investments are made with reputable Australian banks and are considered
low risk.
The company also has long term investments in the form of a portfolio of managed funds. Funds are invested in cash, fixed interest and equity
securities. The current investment policy dictates the level of investment in each fund as a percentage of the overall portfolio.
In respect of accounts receivable, the balances are managed and monitored in accordance with a credit management policy. In respect of water
debtors and loans receivable from landholders, the company has security over the debt in accordance with the Water Management Act 2000.

24. SUBSIDIARY
The company has the following subsidiary:
Name of subsidiary

Country of incorporation

Class of share

Equity holding % 2017

Equity holding % 2016

Australia

Ordinary

100

100

Riverbank Holdings Pty Ltd

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
(a) Summary financial information
The individual financial statements for the parent entity are as follows:
Current assets

143,567

85,559

Total assets

524,245

482,458

Current Liabilities

(56,267)

(430,606)

Total liabilities

(88,199)

(70,752)

Net assets

436,046

411,706

Contributed equity

284,723

284,723

20,049

19,766

Accumulated profits

131,275

107,217

Total equity

436,046

411,706

24,013

(35,262)

283

760

24,296

(34,502)

Reserves

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
(b) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity
The parent entity has not entered into any financial guarantees.
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25. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Operating segments have been identified on the basis of internal reports about components of a company that are regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision makers, being the board and executive management of Murray Irrigation Limited, in order to allocate resources to,
and assess the performance of, each segment.
Murray Irrigation Limited (MIL) represents the activities encompassing the delivery of water to landholders from Mulwala in the east
to Moulamein in the west within Southern NSW.
MILCast is a business unit of Murray Irrigation Limited which designs, manufactures and supplies precast concrete products for agricultural
and other commercial uses.
Private Irrigation Infrastructure Operators Program Round 2 & 3 (PIIOP 2 & 3) consist of a funding agreements entered with the
Commonwealth Government and includes upgrading water management and measurement systems, targeted channel refurbishment,
system reconfiguration, system retirement and channel upgrade works.
All non-current assets are located in Australia. No single customer represents more than 10% of revenue.
Segment information for the reporting period is as follows:

On farm Delivery (GL)

MIL

MILCast

PIIOP 2

PIIOP 3

Total

2017
‘000s

2017
‘000s

2017
‘000s

2017
‘000s

2017
‘000s

824

-

-

-

824

35,926

-

-

-

35,926

-

2,870

-

-

2,870

35,926

2,870

-

-

38,796

(13,329)

-

-

-

(13,329)

Revenue
Irrigation activities
MILCast external sales
Total revenue
Cost of goods sold
Bulk water supply expenses
MILCast cost of sales
Total cost of goods sold
Gross profit

-

(2,144)

-

-

(2,144)

(13,329)

(2,144)

-

-

(15,473)

22,597

726

-

-

23,323

(11,860)

(510)

-

-

(12,370)

Expenditure
Wages
Operations

(6,470)

-

(5,333)

-

(11,803)

Corporate and administrative

(2,417)

(130)

(261)

-

(2,808)

(20,747)

(640)

(5,594)

-

(26,981)

1,850

86

(5,594)

-

(3,658)

Depreciation

(7,033)

(76)

-

-

(7,109)

Operating EBIT

(5,183)

10

(5,594)

-

(10,767)

2,767

-

81

-

2,848

(2,416)

10

(5,513)

-

(7,919)

1,653

-

-

-

1,653

Total expenditure
EBITDA

Other income
EBIT
Interest received
AMRR

953

3

-

-

956

Total interest received

Other

2,606

3

-

-

2,609

Abnormal items

6,499

(1,009)

-

-

5,490

Impairment adjustments*
Net profit/(loss) before tax and PIIOP revenue
PIIOP revenue – Grant funding
Net profit/(loss) before tax, inc PIIOP revenue

(2,186)

-

-

-

(2,186)

4,503

(996)

(5,513)

-

(2,006)

-

-

21,341

6,120

27,461

4,503

(996)

15,828

6,120

25,455

No segment assets or liabilities are disclosed because there is no measure of segment liabilities regularly reported to the chief operating decision makers.
*Impairment adjustments includes the recognition at 30 June 2017 of an impairment in the value of Available for sale financial assets of $540,520 and an impairment in the value of Water
Infrastructure of $1,644,867.
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26. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
At 20 September 2017 the New South Wales Murray general security allocation was 28% with a moderate outlook for water availability
for the 2017/18 year. The Company is in a position to deliver its budgeted volume of water during the coming season.
At 18 September 2017, the Company appointed Lachlan Knight into the position of Executive Manager – Infrastructure.

27. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Former customers of the Company in respect of three landholdings have commenced Supreme Court of New South Wales proceedings
claiming approximately $1.9 million in relation to termination fees charged in respect of the termination of their delivery entitlements when they
sold their water entitlements to New South Wales and the Commonwealth. The Company considers that there is no merit in the claims. The
proceedings are being defended vigorously in the Supreme Court. It is estimated that the Company’s exposure in these disputes
is approximately $150,000, representing further legal fees which will need to be paid in defending the proceedings.
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075.

Directors’ declaration
IN THE OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS OF MURRAY IRRIGATION LIMITED:
a) The consolidated financial statements and notes of the Company are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
I.

Giving a true and fair view of its financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date;
and

II. Complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and
b) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors:

BP Simpson
Chairman
21 September 2017

BJ Barlow
Deputy Chairman
21 September 2017
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